




















































































Election and Re-Election of Directors
The Company’s Articles of Association require all Directors to retire and submit themselves for re-election at the first AGM after appointment 
and thereafter at least every three years. The Notice of AGM will give details of those Directors seeking re-election.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises Penny Freer (Chairman), Peter Allen, Steve Bellamy and Peter Steinmann as laid out below:

Name

Penny Freer Chairman (since 25 June 2010, member since 1 March 2010)
Steve Bellamy Member (since 20 February 2007)
Peter Allen Member (since 4 December 2013)
Peter Steinmann Member (since 1 July 2013)

The Committee has Terms of Reference that are reviewed at least annually, were updated at the end of 2017 and are available to view on the 
Company Website ‘www.admedsol.com’. The Deputy Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Committee.

The Remuneration Committee met three times in 2017. The Committee, in consultation with the Chief Executive Officer, determines the 
Group’s policy on Executive remuneration, employment conditions and the individual remuneration packages of the Executive Directors of all 
Group companies and all Management earning in excess of £100,000 per annum. It also approves all new incentive schemes, the grants of 
options under the Group’s share option schemes and the grant of shares under the Group’s Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP). The report of the 
Committee is included on pages 47 to 56.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises Peter Allen (Chairman), Penny Freer, Steve Bellamy, Chris Meredith and Peter Steinmann as laid 
out below:

Name

Peter Allen Chairman (since 1 January 2014, member since 4 December 2013)
Chris Meredith Member (since 1 January 2011)
Penny Freer Member (since 1 March 2010)
Steve Bellamy Member (since 20 February 2007)
Peter Steinmann Member (since 1 July 2013)

The Committee meets as and when it is necessary to do so. The Committee has Terms of Reference that are reviewed at least annually, were 
updated at the end of 2017 and are available to view on the Company Website ‘www.admedsol.com’. The Deputy Company Secretary acts as 
Secretary to the Committee. The Committee met once during the year.

The Committee’s role is to:

ee Ensure that appropriate procedures are in place for the nomination and selection of candidates for appointment to the Board considering 
the balance of skills, knowledge and experience of the Board;

ee Make recommendations to the Board regarding re-election of Directors, succession planning and Board composition, having due regard for 
diversity, including gender; and

ee Consider succession planning for Senior Management and membership of the Audit and Remuneration Committees.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises Steve Bellamy (Chairman), Peter Allen, Penny Freer, and Peter Steinmann as laid out below:

Name

Steve Bellamy Chairman (since 6 June 2007, member since 20 February 2007)
Penny Freer Member (since 1 March 2010)
Peter Allen Member (since 4 December 2013)
Peter Steinmann Member (since 1 July 2013)

Steve Bellamy, a qualified Chartered Accountant, chairs the Committee. The Committee has Terms of Reference that are reviewed at least 
annually, were updated at the end of 2017 and are available to view on the Company Website ‘www.admedsol.com’. The Deputy Company 
Secretary acts as Secretary to the Committee.

The Committee met three times during the year. The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Group Financial Controller, External Audit 
Partner and Internal Auditor attended a number of these meetings. The Audit Committee also met with the External Audit partner without the 
Executives and Senior Managers present. The Audit Committee Report is included on pages 44 to 46.
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Going Concern
In carrying out their duties in respect of going concern, the Directors have carried out a review of the Group’s financial position and cash flow 
forecasts for the next 12 months from signing of the accounts. These have been based on a comprehensive review of revenue, expenditure 
and cash flows, taking into account specific business risks and the current economic environment.

With regard to the Group’s financial position, it had cash and cash equivalents at the year-end of £62.5 million (2016: £51.1 million) and was 
debt free (2016: debt free). The Group agreed a five-year, £30 million, multi-currency, revolving credit facility in December 2014 with an 
accordion option under which AMS can request up to an additional £20 million on the same terms. The facility is provided jointly by the 
Group’s existing bank HSBC, as well as The Royal Bank of Scotland PLC. It is unsecured on the assets of the Group and is currently undrawn.

While the current economic environment is uncertain, AMS operates in a market whose demographics are favourable, underpinned by an 
increasing need for products to treat chronic and acute wounds. Consequently, market growth is predicted. The Group has a number of long-
term contracts with customers across different geographic regions and also with substantial financial resources, ranging from government 
agencies through to global healthcare companies.

Having taken the above into consideration, the Directors have reached the conclusion that the Group is well placed to manage its business 
risks in the current economic environment. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Financial Statements.

Remuneration
The level of remuneration of the Directors is set out in the Remuneration Report on pages 47 to 56.

Modern Slavery Act
Prior to the introduction of the legislation the Company had implemented an Ethical Sourcing Policy and the requirements of the Modern 
Slavery Act build on that policy. During 2017 the Company has taken the following key steps to implement the requirements of the Modern 
Slavery Act 2015:

ee Introduction of an Anti-Slavery/Human Trafficking Policy (the “Policy”) and procedures
ee Group-wide communication of the Policy, with all employees confirming their understanding of the Policy
ee Reinforcement of existing policies covering ethical business practices and legal compliance
ee Contractual commitments from supply chain partners to act in accordance with our Ethical Sourcing Policy
ee Routine audits of suppliers include an assessment of compliance
ee Continuing liaison with suppliers, contractors and business partners to establish their commitment to the eradication of slavery and 
human trafficking

The full compliance statement can be found on the Company website ‘www.admedsol.com/modernslaveryact’.

Gender Pay Gap Reporting – Ensuring Opportunities for All
AMS believes in being an inclusive and diverse employer, where individuals are provided opportunities to develop and reach their full potential.

Pay and Bonus Gap Mean Median

Gender pay gap 11.2% 6.1%
Gender bonus gap 60.3% 0.0%
Gender bonus gap (excluding share exercises) 8.7% 0.0%

The above table shows our mean and median gender pay gap and bonus gap as at the snap-shot date (i.e. 5 April 2017). This information is for 
Advanced Medical Solutions Limited only.

Our disclosable pay gap is 11.2%. Our analysis of our gender gap tells us this is largely driven by the fact that women hold fewer senior positions 
than men. Women made up 41% of our overall workforce on the snapshot date, compared to 32% of women in upper quartile for pay.

Our analysis suggests that when we adjust for this structural issue, our pay gap changes to -2.4% (women paid more than men), which can be 
explained by time in role or skill-set factors.

Our bonus gap has been driven by a number of high value share exercises in the year to 5 April 2017, a large proportion of which were made 
by men. The exercise of these shares relates to options granted over a number of previous years and, as such, is not representative of the 
bonus earned in the year. Individuals have discretion on the timing as to when to exercise their share incentives. Any share incentives that 
vested but were not exercised are not included in this calculation. When we adjust for this factor, and exclude the impact of share exercises, 
our bonus gap drops to 8.7%.

No Bonus 7

Bonus 93

MalesMales FemalesFemales

No Bonus 5

Bonus 95
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This shows a 2% difference in the number of men and women who received a bonus in the reference period. We are confident that men and 
women have an equal opportunity to earn a bonus.

Pay Quartiles
The below chart illustrates the gender distribution across AMS Ltd in four equally sized quartiles.

Quartile Male Female

Upper 68% 32%
Upper Middle 55% 45%
Lower Middle 57% 43%
Lower 49% 51%

As a responsible employer we are committed to addressing diversity and are approaching this in a number of ways to promote and attract 
more senior candidates. This includes flexible working (including job sharing, part-time working, flexitime, career break, home working), 
development opportunities (sponsorship of further education, coaching and mentoring, personal development plans) and our recruitment 
processes (attraction of diverse talent pools). We are confident that men and women are paid equally for doing equivalent jobs across 
the business.

Our Gender Pay Gap figures have been calculated using the methodology provided in the gender pay gap reporting legislation; The Equality 
Act 2010 (Gender Pay Gap Information) Regulations 2017. These figures have been verified and checked to ensure accuracy. The Compliance 
Statement can be found on the Company website ‘www.admedsol.com/genderpay’.

Relations with Shareholders
The Board appreciates that effective communication with the Company’s shareholders and the investment community as a whole is a key 
objective. The Chairman’s Statement, Chief Executive’s Statement and the Strategic Report and Financial Review, together with the information 
in the Annual Report of the Group, provides a detailed review of the business. The views of both institutional and private shareholders are 
important, and these can be varied and wide-ranging, as is their interest in the Company’s strategy, reputation and performance. The Executive 
Directors have overall responsibility for ensuring effective communication and the Company maintains a regular dialogue with its shareholders, 
mainly in the periods following the announcement of the interim and final results, but also at other times during the year. The views of 
shareholders are sought through direct contact and via feedback from advisors and are communicated to the Board as a whole. The Board 
encourages the participation of shareholders at its Annual General Meeting, notice of which is sent to shareholders at least 20 working days 
before the meeting. The AMS website ‘www.admedsol.com’ is regularly updated and provides additional information on the Group including 
information on the Group’s products and technology.

Annual General Meeting
This year’s AGM will, as last year, include a presentation by the Chief Executive Officer on the current progress of the business and allow the 
opportunity for questions on this or any of the resolutions. The Company proposes separate resolutions for each issue and specifically relating 
to the report and accounts. The Company ensures all proxy votes are counted and indicates the level of proxies on each resolution along with 
the abstentions after it has been dealt with on a show of hands.

After the meeting, shareholders have the opportunity to talk informally to the Board and raise any further questions or issues they may have. 
The outcome of the AGM, a copy of the AGM presentation and details of the poll results will be posted on the Company’s website after 
the meeting.

Mary Tavener 
Company Secretary 

17 April 2018
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Aims and Objectives
The overall aim of the Committee is to monitor the integrity of the Group’s Financial Statements and announcements, its accounting 
processes, and the effectiveness of its internal controls and risk management system. The Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its 
responsibility to ensure that the Group’s financial systems provide accurate and up-to-date information on its financial position, and supports 
the Board in its consideration as to whether the Group’s published Financial Statements are fair, balanced and understandable.

The Audit Committee is required to: 

ee Oversee and advise the Board on the current risk exposures of the Company and related future risk strategies
ee Oversee the activities of Internal Audit 
ee Review internal control policies and procedures for the identification, assessment and reporting of material financial and non-financial risks 
ee Review the Group’s procedures for detecting fraud 
ee Review the Group’s procedures for the prevention of bribery and corruption 
ee Review the Group’s procedures for ensuring that appropriate arrangements are in place to enable employees to raise matters of possible 
impropriety in confidence 

ee Review the effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting 
ee Review the content of the Annual Report and advise the Board whether, taken as a whole, it is fair, balanced and understandable, and 
provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group’s position, performance, business model and strategy

ee Review the engagement, effectiveness and independence of the External Auditor
ee Review audit and non audit services and fees
ee Review the Committee’s Terms of Reference

Audit Committee Activities
To discharge its responsibilities, during the year, the Committee has undertaken the following activities: 

Financial Statements and Reports 
ee Reviewed and approved the External Audit fees for 2017 
ee Reviewed the annual and half-yearly financial reports and related statements and discussed:
•	 Key accounting judgements 
•	 Cost of capital
•	 Identification of Cash Generating Units (CGUs) and impairment of goodwill
•	 Brexit effect 
•	 Treatment of R&D Tax Credits as the Group no longer qualifies as a SME
•	 Enhanced Audit Report
•	 Working towards releasing the Annual Report earlier following the Preliminary Statement

ee Reviewed and considered the significant issues in relation to the Financial Statements and how these have been addressed, including: 
•	 Going Concern – The 2014 UK Corporate Governance Code provision C.2.2 has set out a requirement for the Directors to explain in the 

Annual Report how they have assessed the prospects of the Company, over what period they have done so and why they consider that 
period to be appropriate. The Committee reviews the analysis undertaken in relation to strategic risk management and risk assessment, 
risk appetite, internal control, risk and control reporting structure and the principal risks identified on an ongoing basis. This monitoring and 
review validates the draft statement which was documented for the first time in 2016

External Audit
ee Monitored the independence and ensured the objectivity of the External Auditor
ee Approved all non-audit service work over £10,000
ee Reviewed and approved the Audit Plan for the 2017 audit
ee Reviewed the performance of the External Auditor and considered the reappointment of Deloitte LLP as auditor for 2018 and recommended 
appointment to the Board

ee Managed a successful transition of engagement partner for the audit in line with partner rotation rules

Internal Audit
ee Considered and agreed the strategic and annual Internal Audit plan
ee Reviewed and followed up on management responses to Internal Audit findings and recommendations
ee Reviewed the performance of RSM UK and considered their reappointment
ee Reviewed the performance and the resulting recommendations of the Internal Audits into Cyber Security and Budgeting and Forecasting

ee Reviewed ongoing advice from previous audits
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All Internal Audit reports are discussed with the Audit Committee and the External Auditor, and the recommendations considered 
and acted upon. RSM UK attends Audit Committee meetings twice a year and updates the Audit Committee in writing ahead of each 
Committee meeting.

In 2017 the Internal Auditor undertook detailed audits of Cyber Security and Budgeting and Forecasting, together with a review of previous 
audit reports. The recommendations of Internal Audit were accepted by the Audit Committee and acted upon. The Group also calls on the 
services of external bodies to review the controls in certain areas of the Group. The quality assurance systems are reviewed by the Group’s 
notified bodies, the British Standards Institute (BSI) and TÜV Rheinland and LGA Products GmbH, on a regular basis.

The Internal Controls Framework is available for all employees to view on the Intranet. Updates are driven by an underlying process change or 
by the outcomes of Internal Audit projects. Issues are identified, the policies are updated and then approved by the Group Financial Controller 
and Chief Financial Officer. The updated policies are then formally approved by the Board.

Risk Management and Internal Controls
The Board takes responsibility for the Group’s system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness, taking guidance from the Audit 
Committee. The Board monitors and reviews all material controls including financial, operational and compliance controls. Risks arising from 
operations can only be managed rather than eliminated. Only reasonable and not absolute assurances can be made against material loss or 
misstatement. Key features of the internal control system are:

ee The Group has an organisational structure with clear responsibilities and lines of accountability. The Group promotes the values of integrity 
and professionalism. The members of the Board are available to hear, in confidence, any individual’s concerns about improprieties;

ee The Board has a schedule of matters reserved for its consideration. This schedule includes potential acquisitions, capital projects, treasury 
policies and management systems, risk management systems and policies, approval of budgets, re-forecasts and Health and Safety;

ee The Board or the Audit Committee reviews the Risk Register at least twice a year;
ee The Board monitors the activities of the Group through the management accounts, monthly forecasts and other reports on current activities 
and plans. The Senior Management Team, at least monthly, monitors financial and operational performance in detail; 

ee The Group has set appropriate levels of authorisation which must be adhered to as the Group concludes its business; 
ee An Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system with in-built controls over process and authority, minimising manual intervention and overall 
strengthening controls is in place in the UK, the Netherlands and Germany;and

ee The Group operates a ‘whistle-blowing’ policy enabling any individual with a concern to approach any of the Non-Executive Directors 
in confidence.

As part of the External Auditor’s annual review process, any weaknesses identified in the Group’s internal control system are reported to and 
discussed with the Audit Committee and corrective actions are agreed.

The Group’s corporate objective is to maximise long-term shareholder value, recognising that creating value is the reward for taking and 
accepting risk. The Directors consider risk management to be crucial to the Group’s success and give it a high priority to ensure that adequate 
systems are in place to evaluate and limit risk exposure.

Management formally reviews the Risk Register at least twice a year. Risks are evaluated for both likelihood and financial impact and scored 
against both criteria. This is used to identify the most significant risks the business faces. These risks have been identified and are discussed in 
more detail in the Strategic Report on pages 4 to 33. Actions are agreed to mitigate the risks. 

At each review, progress on actions is assessed and further actions may be identified. Risks are re-scored and the effects of mitigating actions 
taken are used to identify a residual risk score. Management also gives consideration to other risks that have been identified, score these risks 
to understand significance and assign actions to be taken to mitigate, if required. The process for identifying, evaluating and managing the risks 
faced by the Group is ongoing throughout the year.

Management report to the Audit Committee at least twice a year on the Risk Register. The Board or the Audit Committee reviews the Group’s 
Risk Register and the effectiveness of Management’s actions to mitigate the risks. 

As part of the External Auditor’s annual review process, any key risks and areas of audit focus are also identified and agreed with the 
Audit Committee. 

In September 2014 the FRC issued guidance on ‘Risk Management, Internal Control and Related Financial & Business Reporting’. The new 
guidance was first applied in the Group’s 2015 accounting period. The Audit Committee believes it meets the FRC requirements.

Mary Tavener
Company Secretary

17 April 2018
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The Board presents the Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 December 2017.

As an AIM quoted company, Advanced Medical Solutions Group plc is not required to comply with the Directors’ Remuneration Report 
regulations requirements under Main Market UK Listing Rules or those aspects of the Companies Act applicable to listed companies. 
The following disclosures are made voluntarily.

The Remuneration Committee (Committee) comprises the three Non-Executive Directors of the Group and the Chairman of the Board as laid 
out below:

Name

Penny Freer Chairman (since 2 June 2010, member since 1 March 2010)
Steve Bellamy Member (since 20 February 2007)
Peter Allen Member (since 4 December 2013)
Peter Steinmann Member (since 1 July 2013)

Biographical information on the Committee members is set out on pages 34 to 35. They have no personal financial interest, other than as 
shareholders, in the matters to be decided. They have no conflict of interest arising from cross-directorships and no day-to-day involvement in 
running the business. They do not participate in any bonus, share option or pension arrangements. The Committee met three times during the 
year. All the meetings were attended by all members. The Board has accepted the Committee’s recommendations in full.

The Committee, on behalf of the Board, and in consultation with the Chief Executive Officer, determines the Group’s policy on executive 
remuneration, employment conditions and the individual remuneration packages of the Executive Directors of all Group companies and 
management and staff earning in excess of £100,000 per annum. It administers the share option schemes, determines the design of 
performance-related pay schemes, sets the targets for such schemes and approves payment under such schemes. The Terms of Reference of 
the Committee are reviewed each year and are available on the Company’s website, ‘www.admedsol.com’.

A resolution will be put to shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 6 June 2018 asking them to consider and approve this Report. 
The activities the Remuneration Committee undertook in 2017 were:

Month Principal Activities

February ee Review of 2016 personal objectives and setting of 2017 personal objectives for Executive Directors
ee Review of proposed 2016 Executive Director and Senior Management Team (SMT) bonus and 
Deferred Annual Bonus awards

ee Review of proposed share option and LTIP awards

September ee Ratification of LTIP and share option awards for SMT
ee Ratification of bonus and Deferred Annual Bonus awards for Executive Directors and SMT
ee Review of compliance with Executive Shareholding Policy for Executive Directors and SMT
ee Review of Executive Director Financial Objectives
ee Award of additional LTIPs following internal re-organisation
ee Agreement to amend payment of Employers NI for Unapproved Deferred Share Bonus Plan 
Matching Shares

ee Gender Pay Reporting

December ee Consideration and approval of 2018 basic salary for Executive Directors and SMT 
ee Review of results of Committee Self Assessment questionnaire, Terms of Reference and Directors 
Expenses Policy 

ee Agreement of 2018 Remuneration Committee Meeting dates
ee Review of legal and corporate governance developments
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Remuneration Policy
The remuneration policy is formulated around the need to provide a remuneration structure that is competitive to attract, retain and motivate 
Senior Executives of the calibre required to develop and implement the Company’s strategy and enhance earnings over the long-term, 
whilst at the same time not paying more than is necessary for this purpose. A cohesive reward structure consistently applied with links to 
corporate performance is seen as crucial in ensuring attainment of the Group’s strategic goals. It is the intention of this policy to conform to 
best practice as far as reasonably practicable and that it will continue to apply for 2018 and subsequent years, subject to ongoing review as 
appropriate. The Committee retains the right for discretion, although no discretion was used in 2017. The policy is based around the following 
key principles:

ee Total rewards will be set at levels that are sufficiently competitive to enable the recruitment and retention of high calibre Senior Executives;
ee Total incentive-based rewards will be earned through the achievement of performance conditions consistent with shareholder interests;
ee The design of long-term incentives will be prudent and will not expose shareholders to unreasonable financial risk; and
ee In considering the market positioning of reward elements, account will be taken of the performance of the Group and of each individual 
Executive Director.

Kepler, part of Mercer (previously Kepler Associates), were engaged in 2014 to advise the Committee with regard to the remuneration of 
the Executives and SMT. Executive Directors are expected to accumulate and maintain a significant shareholding. The Committee took 
into account this expectation, together with the recommendations from Kepler, into account when introducing an Executive Shareholding 
Policy requiring the Executive Directors and SMT to hold a minimum of 100% and 50% respectively, of their pre-tax annual salary in Company 
shares within five years of attaining office. All SMT members met or exceeded the shareholding target except the two members who have 
been with the Company less than 5 years. Each Executive Director’s remuneration package consists of basic salary, bonus, LTIPs, health 
and insurance benefits, and pension contributions. The Committee ensures that there is a balance between fixed and performance related 
remuneration elements.

Consideration of Shareholder Views
In formulating the remuneration policy, the Committee takes into account guidance issued by shareholder representative bodies, including 
the Investment Association, the Pensions and Lifetime Savings Association and Institutional Shareholder Services. The Committee also takes 
into consideration any views expressed by shareholders during the year (including at the AGM) and encourages open dialogue with its largest 
shareholders. Major shareholders are consulted in advance about changes to the remuneration policy.

Consideration of Employment Conditions elsewhere in the Group
The Committee considers the general basic salary increase for the broader employee population when determining the annual salary 
increases and remuneration for the Executive Directors. For example, as explained on page 51, reflecting the wider cost of living increase for 
the 2018 financial year, the Committee determined to only increase the basic salary for the Executive Directors by the cost of living (3%).

Statement of Voting at General Meeting
At the 2017 AGM, the percentages of votes cast ‘for’, ‘against’ and ‘withheld’ in respect of the Directors’ Remuneration Report were as follows:

Resolution
No.  

of shares
Votes cast  

‘for’
Votes cast  

‘against’

To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report 123,308,123 99.17% 0.83%
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Overview of Director’s Remuneration Policy

Directors’ Policy Table

Element of  
remuneration

Purpose and how it 
supports strategy

How the element operated  
and maximum opportunity

Framework used to 
assess performance

Base Salary To provide competitive 
fixed remuneration.
To attract, retain and 
motivate Executive 
Directors and the SMT 
of the right calibre to 
deliver the Company’s 
strategy and to provide 
a core level of reward 
for the role.

In line with the policy outlined on page 48 
salary levels of Executive Directors and the SMT 
are set after taking into account experience, 
responsibilities and performance, both on an 
individual and business perspective, and external 
market data (benchmarked against companies 
of a similar size and complexity and other 
companies in the same industry sector).
Salaries are reviewed annually (normally 
December, with any changes effective from 
1 January). Details of the current salaries of 
the Executive Directors are set out below. 
This review was last carried out in December 
2017. There is no prescribed maximum annual 
increase. The Committee will take into account 
the general increase for the broader employee 
population in the UK but on occasions may 
need to recognise, for example, an increase 
in the scale, scope or responsibility of the role. 
Current salary levels are set out on page 51.

Where there is a change in responsibility, 
progression in the role, change in size 
or structure of the Group or increased 
experience of the Executive Director or 
member of the SMT, the Committee retains 
the discretion to award a higher increase than 
the UK workforce.

Benefits To attract, retain and 
motivate Executive 
Directors and the SMT 
of the right calibre to 
deliver the Company’s 
strategy by providing a 
market competitive level 
of benefit provision.

The range of benefits that may be provided 
by the Committee after taking into account 
local market practice. The Executive Directors’ 
benefits currently comprise private medical 
insurance. Additional benefits may be provided 
as appropriate. There is no defined maximum 
as the cost benefits can vary annually 
and the Company requires the ability to 
remain competitive.

N/A

Annual 
Performance 
Bonus

Drives and rewards 
performance against 
annual financial and 
operational goals which 
are consistent with the 
medium to long-term 
strategic needs of 
the business.

Each of the Executive Directors is entitled 
under the terms of their service agreements to 
receive an Annual Bonus to be determined by 
the Committee based on the Group’s financial 
performance and the achievement of specific 
personal targets set by the Committee.
The maximum Annual Bonus potential is 120% of 
salary for the Chief Executive Officer and 100% 
of salary for the Chief Financial Officer, of which 
85% of the award is dependent on financial 
performance targets and 15% on personal 
objectives. Bonuses are paid in a mixture of cash 
and shares with an element deferred under the 
Deferred Annual Bonus scheme.

The annual performance bonus is focused 
on the delivery of strategically important 
performance targets. These include 
demanding financial and non-financial 
measures. The financial targets are currently 
set against Group revenue, Group profit 
before tax and Earnings Per Share. 85% of 
the award is dependent upon the financial 
performance of the Group and 15% is 
achievable for meeting personal objectives.
The SMT are entitled to receive up to 50% 
of their salary in bonus, of which 86% of the 
award is dependent on financial performance 
targets and 14% on personal objectives. 
The Committee may use different measures 
and/or weightings for future bonus cycles to 
take into account changes in the strategic 
needs of the business.

Deferred Annual 
Bonus (DAB)

Provides mechanism 
to exercise 
malus provisions.

Following advice from Mercer (formally Kepler) 
regarding corporate governance developments 
in remuneration, the Committee introduced 
a Deferred Annual Bonus (DAB) Scheme after 
receiving shareholder approval at the 2014 AGM 
whereby both Executive Directors and the SMT 
are required to defer up to 25% of their Annual 
Bonus for three years.
The DAB introduced malus provisions which 
are laid out on page 51. There is no provision 
for clawback.

N/A
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Element of  
remuneration

Purpose and how it 
supports strategy

How the element operated  
and maximum opportunity

Framework used to 
assess performance

Deferred Share 
Bonus Plan 
(DSB)

To align the interests 
of the Executive 
Directors, the SMT and 
the employees with 
shareholders, incentivise 
long-term value creation 
and is a key tool for 
retention of staff.

The Deferred Share Bonus Plan (DSB) is available 
to all employees and allows them to choose for 
the payment of some bonus to be made in the 
form of shares. It also allows for the provision of 
matching shares if the bonus shares are held for 
a set period. The DSB encourages employees 
to acquire shares in the Company and retain 
those shares to receive additional free shares 
from the Company. It acts as a valuable retention 
tool aligning employees’ interests with those of 
shareholders. The DSB first operated in 2007. 
The existing scheme received shareholder 
approval at the 2015 AGM.

N/A

Long Term 
Incentive Plan 
(LTIP)

To align the interests 
of the Executive 
Directors and the SMT 
with shareholders and 
incentivise long-term 
value creation.

The Company introduced a new Long 
Term Incentive Plan (2014 LTIP) at the 2014 
AGM, replacing the LTIP introduced in 2006. 
The LTIP permits an annual grant of shares that 
vest subject to performance and continued 
employment. The LTIP awards are granted 
in accordance with the rules of the plan. 
Individuals who are entitled to awards under 
the 2014 LTIP are not eligible to receive options 
under the Company’s Share Option Plan or the 
Executive Share Option Scheme.
Under the rules of the LTIP, the maximum 
annual award size is 200% of salary. Details of 
the proposed award level for 2017 are set out 
below. Awards under the LTIP may be granted in 
the form of nil-cost options or cash (where the 
award cannot be settled in shares). Awards are 
currently structured with a consideration of £1.
The 2014 LTIP introduced malus provisions 
which are laid out on page 51. There is no 
provision for clawback.

50% of the Award is determined based on the 
Total Shareholder Return (TSR) performance 
of the Company compared with the AIM 
Healthcare Share Index over the vesting 
period and 50% of the Award is determined by 
the growth in the average Earnings Per Share 
(EPS) per year of the Company over a three-
year period. 
Of the 50% of the Award that is determined by 
reference to the AIM Healthcare Share Index, 
no shares will be awarded if the Company 
is ranked below the median. Awards will 
vest on a sliding scale from 25% to 100% for 
performance above median to upper quartile 
performance against the Index. 
The performance measurement for EPS will 
be based on the percentage increase of the 
Company’s EPS over a three-year period 
commencing on the 1 January of the year 
the Award is made. Awards will vest on a 
sliding scale from 25% to 100% for an average 
increase of EPS from target EPS of 5% to 
an average increase of EPS of 20% over the 
vesting period. No awards will be made for 
an average increase of EPS below target EPS. 
In 2014 the EPS target was set at 5%.
The Committee has the flexibility to make 
appropriate adjustments to the performance 
conditions to ensure that the Award achieves 
its purpose. Any vesting is also subject to 
the Committee being satisfied that the 
Company’s performance on these measures 
is consistent with the underlying performance 
of the business.

Pensions To provide a 
market competitive 
remuneration 
package to enable 
the recruitment 
and retention of the 
Executive Directors 
and SMT.

All UK employees are entitled to become 
members of the Group Pension and Life 
Assurance Scheme which was set up with 
effect from 1 February 1999. The Scheme 
entitles Executive Directors to contribute up to 
10% of salary with the Group contributing 10%. 
All other UK employees contribute a minimum 
of 3% of their salary which is matched by a 6% 
contribution of the Group. The Pension Plan is 
a money purchase scheme. In 2011, the Group 
made arrangements allowing individuals to 
sacrifice their salary for pension contributions. 
Following changes in the taxation of personal UK 
pension contributions, and limitations on the size 
of individual personal pension funds, the Group 
has agreed that an employee may substitute the 
pension contributions they would have received 
from the Group for salary.
Automatic enrolment has been implemented for 
all UK employees.

N/A
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Malus provisions – 2014 LTIP/DAB
The 2014 LTIP and DAB incorporate malus provisions. For LTIPs and DAB’s awarded from 2014 onwards, the Committee may in its absolute 
discretion resolve to vary an Award in the event that any of the Financial Statements or results for the Company, or for any Group Company, 
are materially restated (other than restatement due to a change in accounting policy or to rectify a minor error) or if, in the reasonable 
opinion of the Committee and following consultation with the relevant employing Group Company, a participant has deliberately misled the 
management of the Company and/or the market and/or the Company’s shareholders regarding the financial performance and/or technical 
information of any Group Company or any Subsidiary, or a participant’s actions amount to serious misconduct or conduct which causes 
significant financial loss for the Company, any Group Company and/or the participant’s Business Unit. 

If the Committee determines that the malus provision applies then they may resolve that the number of shares comprised in an Award that 
are not vested shares and/or vested shares in the case of an Option where the Option has not yet been exercised should be reduced (to nil if 
appropriate) and/or impose further conditions on an Award.

Directors’ Emoluments – Single Figure of Remuneration
The various elements of the remuneration for each Director in 2016 and 2017:

Salary and fees Annual Bonus
Deferred  

Annual Bonus LTIPs vested Benefits Pensions
Total 

remuneration

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Chris Meredith 270 265 201 173 67 58 466 254 8 7 1 1 27 26 1,040 784
Mary Tavener 209 200* 130 111 43 37 329 204 4 – 1 1 21 26 737 579
Peter Allen 71 69 – – – – – – – – – – – – 71 69
Steve Bellamy 42 41 – – – – – – – – – – – – 42 41
Penny Freer 42 41 – – – – – – – – – – – – 42 41
Peter Steinmann 36 35 – – – – – – – – – – – – 36 35
Total 670 651 331 284 110 95 795 458 12 7 2 2 48 52 1,968 1,549

*	Sacrificed salary of £5,125 in January to March 2016 in lieu of Pension. Annual Salary of £205,000 in 2016.

** Gains on DSBs vested is based on the share price at vesting date. Details of the DSB can be found on page 50.

The table above summarises the payments made and additional amounts earned by the Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors 
for the 2016 and 2017 financial years. The Chairman of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee (Steve Bellamy and Penny Freer) 
received a supplementary fee of £3,000 for chairing the Committees. The Deferred Annual Bonus recorded in the table above is in respect of 
the 2016 and 2017 financial years, to be paid or deferred into shares, which will not be received until 2020 and 2021 respectively. The Executive 
Directors were granted further LTIPs as detailed on page 52. All Directors have confirmed that, save as disclosed in the single figures of 
remuneration tables above, they have not received any other items in the nature of remuneration.

Salaries and Fees

Executive Directors
The Remuneration Committee determined there would be an increase of 3% for Executive Director base salary for 2018. The Group’s UK 
employees also received a 3% salary increase for the 2018 financial year.

Director 2018 2017 % increase

Chris Meredith £278,409 £270,300 3%
Mary Tavener £215,373 £209,100 3%

Annual Performance Bonus
The Annual Bonus contains two elements — the cash element and the deferred share element. The bonus is determined on both financial 
targets and personal objectives. Up to 25% of the bonus is deferred into shares in line with the malus provisions. The Annual Bonus payments 
presented in the table above were based on performance against growth in Group revenue, adjusted Profit before Tax, and EPS, and 
performance against personal performance objectives measured over the relevant financial year. The maximum bonus potential for the year 
ending 31 December 2018 will remain as 120% of salary for the Chief Executive Officer and 100% for the Chief Financial Officer. 
The personal objectives for the Executive Directors are usually set on an individual basis. The personal objectives of each Executive Director for 
the year ended 31 December 2017 were linked to the corporate, financial, strategic and other non-financial objectives of the Company. 
Up to 18% of salary was payable to the Chief Executive Officer and 15% of salary to the Chief Financial Officer upon achievement of personal 
objectives. Based on the assessment against objectives set, the Committee determined that the performance of the Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer warranted a 60% (2016: 50%) payout in relation to the non-financial elements of their respective bonuses, which 
resulted in payment worth 11% (2016: 9%) of salary to the Chief Executive Officer and 9% (2016: 7.5%) of salary to the Chief Financial Officer. 
The Committee consider the 2018 objectives to be commercially sensitive as they give our competitors insight into our business plans and 
therefore are not detailed in this Report.
The bonus for the 2017 financial year is accrued and paid in 2018. Overall the 2017 bonus payments made in respect of the 2016 financial year 
were as follows:

Name

Bonus paid in 2017 
(2016 Financial 

Year)
Deferred Annual 

Bonus

Percentage of 
salary (for total 

bonus)
Maximum % of 

salary

Chris Meredith £172,949 £57,650 72.5% 120%
Mary Tavener £111,492 £37,164 72.5% 100%

Gains on DSBs
vested**

Advanced Medical Solutions Group plc Annual Report 2017

Company Overview
Strategic Report
Governance
Financial Statements

51



Vesting of LTIPs for the year ended 31 December 2017
The LTIPs granted on 6 June 2014 to the Executive Directors under the 2014 Long-Term Investment Plan were based on performance criteria 
during the three-year period as detailed below. The LTIPs vested on 6 June 2017. The performance conditions were: 

ee 50% of the Award is subject to a performance condition based on the Company’s Total Shareholder Return (TSR) performance over 
the performance period (90 dealing day period to the date of grant measured against the 90 dealing day period prior to the three year 
anniversary following the date of grant) relative to the constituent companies of the AIM Healthcare Share Index over the performance 
period; and

ee 50% of each Award is subject to a performance condition based on the growth in the Company’s underlying diluted earnings per share (EPS) 
over the period from 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2016.

The Performance Targets were as follows:

TSR Performance Vesting %

Below 50% of the comparator group
Between 50% and 75% of comparator group
Above 75% of comparator group

0%
Pro-rata vesting between 25% and 100% based on the ranking in the comparator group
100%

EPS compound annual growth rate Vesting %

<5% CAGR
5%-20% CAGR

0%
Pro-rata vesting between 25% and 100%

Following a review of the performance conditions of the LTIPs granted in June 2014, 76.9% of the award vested in June 2017. The Company 
achieved 100% vesting for the TSR element (ranking 7th out of the 50 comparators) and 53.7% for the EPS element (compound annual EPS 
growth of 10.7%)

In the Directors’ emoluments single figure remuneration table on page 51, the figure attributable to the LTIPs granted on 6 June 2014 is 
calculated by multiplying the number of shares in respect of which the Award vested by the share price on the vesting date. 

Directors’ Interests in the Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)
On 6 April 2017 the following LTIP awards were granted to each Executive Director:

Director Type of Award
Basis of grant  

awarded

Share price 
at date  

of grant (£)
Number of shares 

granted
Face value  

of grant (£)

Vesting 
determined by 

performance over

Chris Meredith Nil-cost option 100% of salary 2.4669 109,571 270,300 See below 
Mary Tavener Nil-cost option 100% of salary 2.4669 84,762 209,100 See below

EPS – Three financial years to 31 December 2019

TSR – Three years to 6 April 2020

Outstanding Share Awards
The maximum number of shares to be allocated to the Executive Directors under the LTIP, in each case for an aggregate consideration of £1, 
are as follows:

Director
As at 31

December 2016
Exercised in the 

year Issued in the year Lapsed in the year
As at 31 December 

2017

Market price at 
date of

grant (p) First vesting date

Chris Meredith 188,628 188,628 – – – 88.00 15 April 2014 (vested)
143,631 143,631 – – – 76.75 6 September 2015 (vested)
113,555 113,555 – – – 90.00 19 September 2016 (vested)
210,753 162,069 – 48,684 – 116.25 6 June 2017 (vested)
168,316 – – – 168,316 151.50 10 September 2018
143,553 – – – 143,553 184.60 18 April 2019

– – 109,571 – 109,571 246.69 6 April 2020
Mary Tavener 111,314 111,314 – – – 76.75 6 September 2015 (vested)

88,005 88,005 – – – 90.00 19 September 2016 (vested)
148,817 114,440 – 34,377  – 116.25 6 June 2017 (vested)
132,013 – – – 132,013 151.50 10 September 2018
111,050 – – – 111,050 184.60 18 April 2019

– – 84,762 – 84,762 246.69 6 April 2020

The entitlement to shares under the LTIP is subject to achieving the performance conditions referred to on page 50. The figures shown are 
maximum entitlements and the actual number of shares (if any) will depend on these performance conditions being achieved. During the 
year ended 31 December 2017 Chris Meredith exercised 607,883 LTIPs (2016: Nil) and Mary Tavener exercised 313,759 LTIPs (2016: Nil). 
Awards made have no performance re-testing facility.
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Approach to Remuneration of Executive Directors on Recruitment
In the case of appointing a new Executive Director, the Committee may make use of all the existing components of remuneration. The salaries 
of new appointments will be determined by reference to the experience and skills of the individual, market data, internal relativities and their 
current salary. New appointments will be eligible to receive a personal pension, benefits and to participate in the Company’s share schemes. 
No Director or Senior Manager shall be involved in any decisions as to their own remuneration. 

Non-Executive Directors
Non-Executive Directors are appointed under arrangements that may generally be terminated by either party on six months notice and 
their appointment is reviewed annually. The fees of the Non-Executive Directors are determined by the Executive Directors, taking into 
account the time and responsibility of each role. Additional fees relate to the supplementary fee paid to the Chairmen of the Audit and 
Remuneration Committees. 

Non-Executive Directors receive travel expenses but do not participate in any incentive arrangements. All Non-Executive Directors have 
confirmed that, save as disclosed in the single figures of remuneration tables above, they have not received any other items in the nature of 
remuneration. Further details of the Non-Executive Director fees are outlined below.

Element of remuneration Purpose and how it supports strategy
How the element operated and maximum 
opportunity Framework used to assess performance

Non-Executive Director fees and 
benefits

Reflects time commitments, 
responsibilities of each role, fees 
paid and benefits provided by 
similar sized companies

As per the Executive Directors 
there is no prescribed maximum 
annual increase. The Board is 
guided by the general increase 
in the Non-Executive Director 
market and the broader employee 
population but on occasion may 
need to recognise, for example, 
an increase in the scale, scope or 
responsibility of the role. Current 
fee levels are set out on page 51

Non-Executive Directors do 
not participate in variable pay 
arrangement and do not receive 
retirement benefits

Service Agreements
Executive Director service contracts, including arrangements for early termination, are carefully considered by the Committee and are 
designed to recruit, retain and motivate Directors of the quality required to manage the Company. The service contract of each Executive 
Director is not fixed term and is terminable by either party giving not less than 12 months’ notice in writing. The Executive Directors’ contracts 
are available to view throughout the year at the Company’s registered office and at the Annual General Meeting. The Remuneration 
Committee reviews the contractual terms for new Executive Directors to ensure they reflect best practice. Details of the service contracts for 
the Executive Directors and letters of appointment of the Non-Executive Directors are as follows:

Executive Director Date of Contract
Unexpired Term (months) 
or Rolling Contract

Notice Period 
(months)

Chris Meredith 3 May 2005 Rolling Contract 12
Mary Tavener 28 June 1999 Rolling Contract 12

Non-Executive Directors

Peter Allen 4 December 2013 Rolling Contract 6
Steve Bellamy 1 February 2007 Rolling Contract 6
Penny Freer 1 March 2010 Rolling Contract 6
Peter Steinmann 1 July 2013 Rolling Contract 6

Policy on Payment for Loss of Office – Executive Directors
The Remuneration Committee considers the circumstances of individual cases of early termination and determines compensation on a case-
by-case basis accordingly, taking into account the relevant contractual terms, the circumstances of the termination and any applicable duty to 
mitigate. There are no special provisions in the event of loss of office or for payment in lieu of notice (PILON). The Remuneration Committee 
considers the circumstances of individual cases of early termination and determines compensation accordingly.

If such circumstances were to arise, the Executive Director concerned would have no claim against the Company for damages or any other 
remedy in respect of the termination. The Remuneration Committee would apply general principles of mitigation to any payment made to a 
departing Executive Director and will honour previous commitments as appropriate. 

The table below summarises how the awards under the Annual Bonus and 2014 LTIP are typically treated in different leaver scenarios and on 
a change of control. Whilst the Remuneration Committee retains overall discretion for determining ‘Good Leaver’ status, it typically defines a 
‘Good Leaver’ for the Annual Bonus and 2014 LTIP as circumstances which include retirement, ill health or injury, disability, redundancy and the 
employing company ceasing to be under the control of the Group. 

The 2014 DAB defines a ‘Good Leaver’ as ceasing to be a Director or employee of a Group Company where that individual is not a ‘Bad 
Leaver’. A ‘Bad Leaver’ is defined as a Director or employee leaving the business due to the Financial Statements requiring restatement. 
Final treatment is subject to the Committee’s discretion.
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Annual Bonus/DAB
‘Good Leaver’ Annual Bonus payment would be negotiated as part of the 

terms of the leaving arrangements (at the discretion of the 
Remuneration Committee)
Unvested Deferred Annual Bonus share awards vest at 
the normal vesting date (or earlier at the Remuneration 
Committee’s discretion)

No automatic entitlement to Annual Bonus on a pro-rata basis 
(at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee)

‘Bad Leaver’ Not applicable Individuals lose the right to their Annual Bonus and unvested 
Deferred Annual Bonus share awards

Change of control Annual Bonuses are paid and unvested Deferred Share Bonus 
share awards vest on the date of notification to the Executive 
Directors regarding the change of control

Annual Bonus is paid only to the extent that any performance 
conditions have been satisfied and is pro-rated for the 
proportion of the financial year worked to the effective date of 
change of control

LTIP
‘Good Leaver’ On normal vesting date (or earlier at the Remuneration 

Committee’s discretion)
Unvested awards vest to the extent that any performance 
conditions have been satisfied and a pro-rata reduction applies 
to the value of the awards to take into account the proportion 
of vesting period not served

‘Bad Leaver’ Unvested awards lapse Unvested awards lapse on cessation of employment

Change of control Unvested awards vest on the date of notification to the 
Executive Directors regarding the change of control

Unvested awards vest and a pro-rata reduction applies for the 
proportion of the vesting period not served
Outstanding deferred shares vest in full

Upon exit or change of control Deferred Share Bonus (DSB) awards will be treated in line with the DSB plan rules.

If employment is terminated by the Company, the departing Executive Director may have a legal entitlement (under statute or otherwise) to 
additional amounts, which would need to be met. In addition, the Committee retains discretion to settle other amounts reasonably due to the 
Executive Director.

In certain circumstances, the Committee may approve new contractual arrangements with departing Executive Directors including (but 
not limited to) settlement and/or consultancy arrangements. These will be used sparingly and only entered into where the Remuneration 
Committee believes that it is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders to do so.

There are no agreements between the Group and its Directors or employees for loss of office or employment (whether through resignation, 
purported redundancy or otherwise) that occurs because of a takeover bid.

Payments to past Directors
No payments were made to past Directors during the year ended 31 December 2017.

Payments for Loss of Office
No payments for loss of office were made during the year ended 31 December 2017.

Statement of Directors’ Shareholdings and Share Interests

Director

Beneficially owned*  
at 31 December 

2016

Beneficially owned* 
at 31 December 

2017

Outstanding LTIP 
awards at 

31 December 
2017

Outstanding DAB 
awards at 

31 December 
2017

Outstanding share 
awards under DSB 

at 31 December 
2017

Shareholding 
as a % of Issued 

Share Capital 
at 31 December 

2017

Chris Meredith 1,190,322 1,485,530 421,440  83,384 11,667 0.70%
Mary Tavener 1,828,129 1,961,119 327,825 55,728 7,837 0.92%

Executive Directors are required to hold shares worth 100% of pre-tax annual salary in Company shares in compliance with the Executive 
Shareholding Policy. Compliance with this policy as at 31 December 2017 is shown below:

Director Shares held** Vested DSB’s

LTIPs (50% of 
vested /

unexercised LTIPs) DAB Awards Total Shares

Target 
shareholding

target (£)

Actual 
shareholding 

 value (£)
% vs 

holding target

Chris Meredith 1,471,327 14,203 Nil  83,384 1,568,914 270,300 4,977,380 1,841%
Mary Tavener 1,952,877 8,242 Nil 55,728 2,016,847 209,100 6,398,447 3,060%

*	Includes all shares beneficially held by the Executive Director (or their spouses and children) and vested DSB’s.

**	 Beneficially held by the Executive Director (or their spouses and children).

The shareholding as a % shown above is based on the share price as at 31 December 2017.

Event Timing of vesting/award Calculation of vesting/payment
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CEO Total Remuneration
The total remuneration figure for the Chief Executive Officer during each of the last five financial years is shown in the table below. The total 
remuneration figure includes the salary, Annual Bonus based on that year’s performance, gains made on DSBs in that year and LTIP awards 
based on the three-year performance periods ending in the relevant year. The Annual Bonus payout and LTIP vesting level as a percentage of 
the maximum opportunity are also shown for each of these years.

Year ended 31 December 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Total remuneration (£’000) 331  645 741 784 1,040
Annual Bonus (% of maximum) 50.1% 59.7% 78.76% 72.5% 82.6%
LTIP vesting (% of maximum) – 61.5% 55.1% 50% 76.9%

Relative Importance of Spend on Pay
The following table shows the Company’s actual spend on pay (for all employees) relative to dividends, tax and profits for the year attributable 
to owners of the parent:

Year ended 31 December 2016 (£m) 2017 (£m) change %

Staff costs 26.2 29.9 14.4%
Dividends1 1.8 2.0 14.9%
Tax 3.4 5.1 50.8%
Profits for the year attributable to owners of the parent 15.7 20.1 28.3%

1	 The dividend figures relate to amounts payable in respect of the relevant financial year.

£1,365,000 (2016: £1,339,000) of the staff costs figure relate to pay for the Directors, of which £789,000 relates to the highest paid Director 
(2016: £778,000). Total pension contributions were £1,091,000 (2016: £988,000) and for the highest paid Director £27,000 (2016: £26,000). 

During 2017, distributions to shareholders included a dividend of £1,307,000 paid on 16 June 2017 (2016: £1,150,000) and £742,000 paid on 
27 October 2017 (2016: £633,000). It is proposed that a dividend of 0.75p per share be paid on 15 June 2018. Further details are provided in 
Note 14 on page 81.

Gender Pay Gap Reporting – Ensuring Opportunities for All
The full compliance statement can be found on pages 42 to 43 of the Corporate Governance Report and on the Company website 
‘www.admedsol.com/genderpay’.

Private Healthcare
Executive Directors and other senior employees are entitled to private healthcare and permanent health insurance.

Share Options
Employees, except for participants in the Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP), may be granted options over shares in the Company under the 
Company Share Option Plan and Executive Share Option Scheme, under which either approved or unapproved options may be granted. 
Options granted under these schemes are not offered at a discount.

The exercising of options under these schemes is conditional on certain performance conditions which are pre-determined by the 
Remuneration Committee. Options are exercisable normally only after the third anniversary of the date of grant (or such later time as may be 
determined at the time of grant) and cannot, in any event, be exercised later than the tenth anniversary of the date of grant. Awards will not 
vest if the Group is not profitable at the end of the performance period. Full details are included in Note 29 on pages 89 to 93.

Company Share Option Plan (CSOP)
The Company received approval for a Company Share Option Plan (CSOP) on 2 June 2010. This was adopted after HMRC approval on 
13 August 2010. This Plan allows relevant employees to receive up to £30,000 of Company shares by reference to the market value of these 
shares on the grant date and to benefit from the growth in value of those shares.

2009 Executive Share Option Scheme
Up until 2010, the Company was able to offer options under an Enterprise Management Incentive (EMI) Scheme. The Company no longer 
satisfies the requirements for operating this scheme, however, options already granted will be allowed to vest in accordance with the 
scheme rules.

Share Performance - 2017
The opening share price for 2017 was 221.75p and the closing price, on the last trading day of the year, was 317.25p. The range during the year 
was 350p (high) and 209.5p (low) (Source: daily official list of the London Stock Exchange).
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Five-year Share Performance
For the five-year period ending 28 February 2018 the Advanced Medical Solutions Group plc share price has outperformed the FTSE All-Share 
Index by 363%, FTSE Techmark All-Share Index by 339%, FTSE All-Share Health Care Index by 358%, the FTSE Small Cap Index by 329%, and 
FTSE AIM All-Share Index by 344%.
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For the five-year period ending 28 February 2018 the Advanced Medical Solutions Group plc Total Shareholder Return (TSR), defined as share 
price growth plus reinvested dividends, has outperformed the FTSE All-Share Index by 351%, FTSE Techmark All-Share Index by 329%, FTSE All-
Share Health Care Index by 345%, the FTSE Small Cap Index by 319%, and FTSE AIM All-Share Index by 344%.
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The Directors present their report, incorporating the Chairman’s Statement, the Strategic Report, the Governance reports, and the audited 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Strategic Report
The Strategic Report can be found on pages 4 to 33. This report includes a balanced and comprehensive analysis of the development 
and performance of the business of the Group and a description of the main trends and factors likely to affect the future development, 
performance or position of the business at the end of the year, using key performance indicators where appropriate.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
A description of the Group’s principal risks and uncertainties can be found on pages 32 to 33, which forms part of the Strategic Report.

Research and Development
The Group attaches a high priority to research and development aimed at developing new products and updating existing products. 
The Group has expensed to the Income Statement in the year ended 31 December 2017 £2,052,000 (2016: £2,276,000) on research and 
development. In accordance with International Accounting Standards a further £860,000 (2016: £259,000) has been capitalised. Following a 
review of development £nil impairments were made in 2017 (2016: £125,000).

Dividends
The Group made a profit before tax for the year to 31 December 2017 of £25.3 million (2016: £19.1 million). The Directors are recommending 
payment of a final dividend of 0.75p per share (2016: 0.62p per share). The final dividend will, subject to shareholders’ approval, be paid on 
15 June 2018 to shareholders on the register at the close of business on 25 May 2018. This will make a total dividend of 1.10p for the full year 
(2016: 0.92p).

Post-Balance Sheet Events
There have been no adjusting or non-adjusting post-balance sheet events.

Key Performance Indicators
The Directors have monitored the performance of the Group with particular reference to the relevant key performance indicators:

ee Revenue growth (%) at constant currency
ee Adjusted1 operating margin (%)
ee Customer service (OTIF)2

ee Adjusted1 diluted Earnings per Share growth (%)
The Group monitors progress on a regular basis. Performance against the key performance indicators can be found on page 25. The Group 
intends to review its key performance indicators in 2018 to ensure that they continue to be the most relevant for the Group. 

Capital Structure
The Group is debt free. A five-year, £30 million, multi-currency, revolving, credit facility was agreed in December 2014 with an accordion 
option under which AMS can request up to an additional £20 million on the same terms. The facility is provided jointly by the Group’s banks 
HSBC and The Royal Bank of Scotland PLC. It is unsecured on the assets of the Group and is currently undrawn.

Going Concern
After making enquiries and on the basis outlined in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 38 to 42, the Directors have a reasonable 
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and for this reason they 
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

Share Listing
The Company’s Ordinary Shares are admitted to, and traded on, the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange (AIM), a 
market operated by the London Stock Exchange. Further information regarding the Company’s share capital, including movements during the 
year, are set out in Note 27 to the Financial Statements.

1	 Before exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangible assets.
2	OTIF – ‘On time in full’.
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Share Capital and Issue of Ordinary Shares
At 8 March 2018, the Group’s issued share capital comprised: 

Number £000
% of Issued 

Share Capital 

Ordinary Shares of 5p each 212,647,634 10,632 100%

The issued share capital of the Company is set out in Note 27 to the financial statements on pages 88 and 89 .

Substantial Shareholdings
As at 6 April 2018 the Company had been notified of, in accordance with the Disclosure and Transparency Rules, or was otherwise aware of, 
the following substantial interests of 3% or more in the Ordinary Share capital of the Company.

8 March 18
% of Issued  

Share Capital

Octopus Investments Limited 20,739,259 9.75
AXA SA 16,632,986 7.82
BlackRock Inc 15,892,747 7.47
Cannacord Genuity Group Inc 13,995,238 6.58
Investec Group 11,857,384 5.58
Aviva plc 9,317,308 4.38
Schroders 9,072,050 4.27
Charles Stanley Group 7,763,296 3.65

There has been no significant changes to the substantial shareholdings between 31 December 2017 and 6 April 2018. The top shareholders 
listed above remain the same as 31 December 2017.

Directors
The names of the current Directors together with brief biographies are shown on pages 34 and 35.

The Directors who were in office during the year ended 31 December 2017, the terms of the Directors’ service contracts and details of the 
Directors’ interests in the shares of the Company, together with details of share options granted and any other awards made to the Directors, 
are disclosed in the Remuneration Report commencing on page 47.

Directors are re-appointed by ordinary resolution at the Annual General Meeting of shareholders. The Board can appoint a Director during the 
year but that Director must be elected by an ordinary resolution at the next Annual General Meeting. Directors are subject to re-election at 
intervals of no more than three years, with the exception of Steve Bellamy who will be put forward for re-election annually. At the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting Chris Meredith and Steve Bellamy have indicated their willingness to be re-elected and will retire by rotation. 
The Directors continue to contribute effectively and demonstrate commitment to their roles. Details of the notice period in their service 
agreements are disclosed in the Remuneration Report on page 53.

Directors and their Interests
The Directors of the Company at 31 December 2017 and their interests, all of which are beneficially held, in the share capital of the 
Company were:

Ordinary Shares of 5p each 31 December 2017 Ordinary Shares of 5p each 31 December 2016

Shares DSBs LTIPs Deferred Bonus2 Shares DSBs LTIPs Deferred Bonus1

Chris Meredith 1,482,079 15,118 421,440  83,384 1,190,322 28,995 968,436 82,218
Mary Tavener 1,959,691 9,265 327,825 55,728 1,828,129 16,516 591,199 57,870
Steve Bellamy 100,000 – – – 100,000 – – –
Peter Allen 50,000 – – – 50,000 – – –
Penny Freer 13,888 – – – 13,888 – – –

1	 Deferred Bonus shares are in respect of the bonus earned relating to the 2013. 2014 and 2015 financial years.
2	Deferred Bonus shares are in respect of the bonus earned relating to the 2013, 2014. 2015 and 2016 financial years.

Further details of the Directors’ remuneration and benefits are included in the Remuneration Report on pages 47 to 56.
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The Board has agreed procedures for considering and, where appropriate, authorising Directors’ conflicts or potential conflicts of interest. 
Only independent Directors i.e. those who have no interest in the matter under consideration are able to take the relevant decision. In taking 
the decision the Directors must act in a way they consider, in good faith, will be most likely to promote the Company’s success. Directors will 
be able to impose limits or conditions when giving authorisation if they believe it is appropriate. The Board will report annually on the 
Company’s procedures for ensuring that the Board’s power of authorisation in respect of conflicts of interest operated effectively and that 
procedures have been followed. None of the Directors had any interest during or at the end of the year in any contract relating to the business 
of the Company or its subsidiaries.

Directors and Officers’ Liability Insurance
Insurance cover is in force in respect of the personal liabilities which may be incurred by Directors and Officers of the Company in the course 
of their service with the Group, as permitted by the Companies Act 2006. No cover is provided in respect of any fraudulent or dishonest act.

Employees
The Group depends on the skills and engagement of its employees in order to achieve its objectives. Staff at all levels are encouraged to 
make the fullest possible contribution to the Group’s success. The Group is an equal opportunities employer. It is committed to eliminating 
all forms of discrimination and to giving fair and equal treatment to all employees and job applicants in terms of recruitment, pay conditions, 
promotions, training and all employment matters regardless of age, disability, race, sex, sexual orientation, marriage or civil partnership 
status, pregnancy, maternity and paternity, gender reassignment, religion or belief. An Equality Policy is in force which aims to ensure that 
all employees are selected, trained, compensated, promoted and transferred solely on the strength of their ability, skills, qualifications and 
merit. The aim is to encourage a culture in which all employees have the opportunity to develop as fully as possible in accordance with their 
individual abilities and the needs of the Group. The Group also believes that all employees have a right to work in an environment free from 
harassment and bullying, and there is an emphasis upon providing a safe and healthy working environment.

The Group ensures that every consideration is given to applications for employment from disabled persons. Should an employee become 
disabled, every effort would be made to retrain the employee if required and offer suitable alternative employment within the Group.

The Group’s policy is to consult and discuss with employees, through meetings, both formal and informal, those matters likely to affect 
employees’ interests. The Employees’ Consultative Committee in the UK, which comprises representatives of employees and management, 
and the Work’s Council in Germany meet regularly to discuss business issues and areas of concern.

Management also communicates with staff through regular team briefs. Details of policies, procedures and other information of interest are 
regularly updated and are easily accessed by all employees on the Group’s intranet page. The Group undertakes Employee Opinion Surveys 
and takes into account comments and feedback received when updating and formulating policies and procedures.

The Group’s aim is to recruit and retain sufficient skilled and motivated employees to meet the needs of the business. The Group operates to 
the internationally recognised medical device standard ISO 13485. Staff work within a defined quality system, and have Personal Development 
Plans that identify their training requirements to help them progress their careers and development. Employees are encouraged to become 
involved in the financial performance of the Group through participation in the Group’s share option plans and are incentivised directly through 
the Company’s bonus scheme, performance reviews and training and development opportunities.

Employee Share Schemes
Employees, except for participants in the Long-Term Incentive Plan (2014 LTIP), may be eligible after a period of service to be granted options 
over shares in the Company under the Company Share Option Plan or Executive Share Option Scheme. The Group received HMRC approval 
in 2010 to adopt a Company Share Option Plan (CSOP). Under the CSOP, employees are allowed to receive up to £30,000 of options in a tax-
efficient manner. Options granted under these schemes are not offered at a discount. Further details are included in the Remuneration Report 
on pages 47 to 56.

The Company also operates a Deferred Share Bonus Scheme (DSB) in which employees are invited to participate. The DSB encourages 
employee share ownership which helps to align the employees’ interests with those of the shareholders. The details of the DSB Scheme are 
provided in the Remuneration Report on page 50. The original DSB was set up in 2006 and having reached the end of its ten-year life a new 
DSB scheme was introduced on the same terms as the existing scheme following shareholder approval at the 2015 Annual General Meeting.

The Company no longer satisfies the requirements for granting tax-efficient options under its EMI scheme. Options already granted under this 
scheme will be allowed to vest in accordance with the rules of the scheme. 

2,200,000 Ordinary Shares (2016: 1,452,000) were issued during the year to employees exercising their share options and options over other 
share incentive schemes. Details are given in Note 29 to the Group Financial Statements.

Health and Safety
The Group is committed to high standards in health, safety and environmental performance. It is the Group’s policy to abide by, and where 
appropriate exceed, all laws, directives and regulations pertinent to its field of operations and to act in a manner so as to minimise the effects 
of its operations on the environment. The Group provides safe places and systems of work, safe plant and machinery, safe handling of 
materials and ensures appropriate information, instruction and training is given. Employees are encouraged to identify ‘near misses’ to ensure 
preventative actions are taken to avoid any unsafe work practices and a common All Incident Rate (AIR) reporting metric is used across the 
Group. Emphasis is placed on all employees having a responsibility to maintain a safe working environment. Health and Safety Committees at 
all sites assist with advice on safe working practices and ensure any corrective action is taken where necessary. Health and Safety reports are 
regularly received from Group sites and are reviewed by the Board. Regular audits are undertaken to evaluate compliance with Group policy. 
Health and Safety is a key component of the Group’s Corporate Social Responsibility Policy.
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Environment
AMS is focused on reducing our impact on the environment. The Group has operations across a number of countries, where local 
management drive environmental performance. Specific site level objectives are established to ensure compliance with local legislative 
requirements. The Company aims to adopt responsible environmental practices and to give consideration to minimising the impact on 
the environment. The facility at Winsford has been built with a high level of thermal insulation to reduce the Group’s carbon footprint. 
It incorporates a solar wall, a renewable energy source that captures the sun’s warmth and supplements the building’s heating system. 
Lighting is controlled by movement sensors to avoid wastage and the heating system is fully programmable. Air compressors were replaced 
providing both business contingency and energy reduction. Across the manufacturing sites in recent years less energy efficient plant such as 
steam humidifiers, pump systems, chillers and transformers have been replaced and upgraded.

2017 saw an increased emphasis on energy management and using energy more efficiently. We continue to monitor and optimise the energy 
resources at our manufacturing facilities across the Group. Examples of activity in this area includes the fitting of light emitting diodes (LEDs) in 
our warehouse at Winsford. A study of water usage at the Winsford site, which focused on managing our use of water, resulted in a significant 
reduction in water usage, highlighting our commitment to environmental compliance and management. Work on the warehouse extension 
at our Plymouth site has commenced and it will incorporate an energy efficient system for heating and lighting, and be insulated to the 
highest standard.

Evaluations of capital investment opportunities are ongoing to further reduce energy consumption. 2018 will demonstrate significant 
investment in both infrastructure and expertise. The UK manufacturing sites will apply for the ISO 50001 Energy Management Standard, which 
is an internationally recognised world class standard. 

Corporate Social Responsibility
AMS is committed to ensuring that the business operates in a responsible way across these key areas:

ee Employees
ee Ethical Standards
ee Health, Safety and Environment
ee Customer and Community

The Group has implemented a Corporate Social Responsibility Policy.

Directors’ Responsibilities Statement
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Financial Statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors are required to 
prepare the Group Financial Statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European 
Union and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and have elected to prepare the Parent Company Financial Statements in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law including FRS 101 ‘Reduced 
Disclosure Framework’). Under company law the Directors must not approve the accounts unless they are satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period.

In preparing the Parent Company Financial Statements the Directors are required to:

ee Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
ee Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
ee State whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the 
Financial Statements; and

ee Prepare the Financial Statements on the Going Concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue 
in business.

In preparing the Group Financial Statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that Directors:

ee Properly select and apply accounting policies;
ee Present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information;
ee Provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS is insufficient to enable users to understand the 
impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance; and

ee Make an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s transactions and 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the Financial Statements 
comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the 
corporate and financial information included on the Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of Financial Statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Responsibility Statement
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

ee The Financial Statements, prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework, give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole;

ee The Strategic Report and Directors’ Report include a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of 
the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal risks and 
uncertainties that they face; and

ee The Annual Report and Financial Statements, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable, and provide the information necessary 
for shareholders to assess the Group’s performance, business model and strategy.

Auditor
Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval of this Annual Report confirms that:

ee So far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s Auditor is unaware; and
ee The Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as Director in order to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the Company’s Auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of S418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Deloitte LLP has expressed their willingness to continue in office as Auditor and a resolution to reappoint them will be proposed at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Proposed resolutions for the Annual General Meeting
Details of the business to be conducted at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 6 June 2018 are contained in the Notice of the 
Annual General Meeting on pages 100 to 102. In the opinion of the Directors, the passing of these resolutions is in the best interest of the 
shareholders. Details of the Special Business to be conducted are outlined below.

Special Business
The effect of Resolution 7, to be proposed at the meeting, would be to allow the Company to allot shares conferred by S551 of the Companies 
Act 2006.

The effect of Resolution 8, to be proposed at the meeting, would be to disapply the statutory pre-emption rights conferred by S570 of the 
Companies Act 2006.

The effect of Resolution 9, to be proposed at the meeting, would be to allow the Company to purchase its own shares conferred by S701 of 
the Companies Act 2006.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held at 11.00 am on 6 June 2018 at 85 Gresham Street, London, EC2V 7NQ. Details of the Notice of the 
Annual General Meeting are given on pages 100 to 102. The Annual General Meeting provides an opportunity for shareholders to question 
your Board and to meet informally with the executive management after the meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Mary Tavener
Company Secretary

17 April 2018
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Advanced Medical Solutions Group plc
Report on the audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion
In our opinion:

ee the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of The Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2017 
and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended;

ee the Group Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 
adopted by the European Union;

ee the Parent Company Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”; and

ee the Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
We have audited the Financial Statements of Advanced Medical Solutions Group plc (the ‘Parent Company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) 
which comprise:

ee the Consolidated Income Statement;
ee the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income;
ee the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position;
ee the Parent Company Balance Sheet;
ee the Consolidated and Parent Company Statements of Changes in Equity;
ee the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement; and
ee the related Consolidated Financial Statement Notes 1 to 31; and
ee the related Parent Company Financial Statement Notes 1 to 7.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group Financial Statements is applicable law and IFRSs as 
adopted by the European Union. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of The Parent Company Financial 
Statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework” (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 

We are independent of the Group and The Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the Financial Statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters
The key audit matters that we identified in the current year were:

ee Identification of cash generating units and allocation of goodwill; and
ee Revenue recognition

Materiality
The materiality that we used for the Group Financial Statements was £1.2 million which was determined on the basis of approximately 5% of 
statutory profit before tax.

Scoping
We focused our Group audit scope on the UK, Germany and the Netherlands which were subject to a full audit. As a consequence of the audit 
scope determined, we achieved coverage of approximately 97% of revenue, 96% of profit before tax and 98% of net assets.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We are required by ISAs (UK) to report in respect of the following matters where:

ee the Directors’ use of the Going Concern basis of accounting in preparation of the Financial Statements is not appropriate; or 
ee the Directors have not disclosed in the Financial Statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the 
Group’s or The Parent Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months 
from the date when the Financial Statements are authorised for issue.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.
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Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the Financial Statements of 
the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. 
These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing 
the efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the Financial Statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Identification of cash generating units and allocation of goodwill
Key audit matter description The Group holds £42 million of goodwill which has been allocated against three cash generating units (CGU) as 

shown in Note 19. Identifying the CGU at the smallest group of assets which can largely generate independent 
cash inflows requires the exercise of judgement regarding the interdependency of assets across the Group, in 
particular where geographic spread of sites and product ranges exist within each segment. For specific detail on 
the Groups accounting policy, please see Note 3.

How the scope of our audit 
responded to the key audit 
matter

We have assessed the design and implementation of controls relating to the identification of CGU and 
allocation of goodwill.
We challenged management’s assumptions and conclusions regarding the identification of the CGU. As part of 
our procedures we:

ee assessed the impact of the internal Business Unit restructure upon the business operations;
ee reviewed how performance is monitored and decisions are made; 
ee evaluated management’s assertions of the extent of interdependency of generation of cash inflows across 
individual sites, products and customer groups; and

ee checked the allocation of goodwill is in line with management’s basis of aggregating previous CGU.

Key observations Based on the procedures we have concluded that the CGU identified and allocation of goodwill were 
appropriate.

Key audit matter description ISAs (UK) require that, as part of our overall response to the risk of fraud, when identifying and assessing the risks 
of material misstatement due to fraud, we evaluate which types of revenue or revenue transactions might give 
rise to potential fraud risks.
The Group sells medical devices across a number of Geographical regions. We have specifically focused this 
key audit matter to whether sales have occurred, particularly for periods where revenue patterns are different to 
prior year and budget. Pressures to meet stakeholder expectations could provide incentives to record revenues 
where risk and reward have not passed.
The associated disclosure is included within Note 4. For specific detail on the Group’s accounting policy, please 
see Note 3.

How the scope of our audit 
responded to the key audit 
matter

We performed walkthroughs of the revenue cycle at significant components to gain an understanding of when 
the revenue should be recognised, to map out the relevant controls end to end and the processes in place. We 
have assessed the design and implementation of these controls.
We tested a sample of individual sales transactions and traced to sales invoices, final sales contracts or purchase 
orders.
We performed analytic reviews to identify any unusual sales trends, including analysis of sales prices at a 
customer Group level.
We reviewed a sample of new contracts in the period and considered the appropriateness of the revenue 
recognition policies adopted, including identification of any rebate conditions or minimum order clauses.
We identified and considered the impact of any credit notes or inventory returns occurring after year-end, 
including evaluating the impact of any overdue debts from customers.

Key observations We were satisfied that the revenue recognition policies have been applied appropriately. We noted no material 
instances of inappropriate revenue recognition arising from our testing.
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Our application of materiality
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the Financial Statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions of a 
reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work and in 
evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the Financial Statements as a whole as follows:
Group Financial Statements Parent company Financial Statements

Group materiality £1.2 million £1.08 million
Basis for determining 
materiality

Approximately 5% of profit before tax The Parent Company materiality represents less than 1% 
of equity which is capped at 90% of Group materiality.

Rationale for the  
benchmark applied

Profit before tax is determined to be the most relevant 
performance measure to the users of the Financial 
Statements.

As a non-trading Parent Company, equity is the key 
driver of the company.

Materiality

Profit before tax

Profit before tax
£25.3 million

Group materiality
£1.2 million

Component
materiality
range £0.53 million 
to £1.08 million

Audit committee 
reporting threshold
£0.06 millionGroup materiality

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £60,000, as well as differences 
below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. We also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure 
matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the Financial Statements.

An overview of the scope of our audit
Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, including Group-wide controls, and assessing 
the risks of material misstatement at the Group level.

Based on this assessment, we focused our Group audit scope on the UK, Germany and Netherlands, with the UK and Germany subject to a full 
audit and Netherlands specified procedures. As a consequence of the audit scope determined, we achieved coverage of 97% of the Group’s 
revenue, 96% of the Group’s profit before tax and 98% of the Group’s net assets. Our audit work at each location was executed at levels of 
materiality applicable to each individual entity which was lower than Group materiality. Component materiality ranged from £0.53 million to 
£1.08 million. 

The Group audit team are responsible for the audit of all components within the Group except for Germany, Russia and Czech Republic which 
are the responsibility of the component auditor Deloitte & Touche GmbH. During the year, senior members of the Group audit team have 
engaged in regular communications with Deloitte & Touche GmbH. We include the component audit team in our team briefing, discuss their 
risk assessment, attend the close meeting and review documentation of the findings from their work.

At the parent entity level we also tested the consolidation process and carried out analytical procedures to confirm our conclusion that there 
were no significant risks of material misstatement of the aggregated financial information of the remaining components (Russia, Czech 
Republic, and the US components) not subject to audit.

Other information
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other 
than the Financial Statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the Financial Statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our 
report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the Financial Statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the Financial Statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Advanced Medical Solutions Group plc
Report on the audit of the Financial Statements
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Responsibilities of Directors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the Financial Statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of Financial Statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the Financial Statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and The Parent Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or The Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Financial Statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an 
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

ee the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the Financial Statements are prepared 
is consistent with the Financial Statements; and

ee the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and or The Parent Company and their environment obtained in the course of 
the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

ee we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
ee adequate accounting records have not been kept by The Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from 
branches not visited by us; or

ee the Parent Company Financial Statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration have not 
been made.

We have nothing to report in respect of this matter.

Rachel Argyle (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP 
Statutory Auditor 
Manchester

17 April 2018
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Consolidated Statement Of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Year ended 
31 December 

2017 Year ended 31 December 2016 (restated)

Note

 
Total 

£’000

Before 
exceptional

items 
£’000

Exceptional
 items 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Revenue 4 96,908 83,242 – 83,242
Cost of sales (38,504) (35,194) – (35,194)
Gross profit 58,404 48,048 – 48,048
Distribution costs (1,130) (1,047) – (1,047)
Administration costs (32,184) (27,535) (361) (27,896)
Other income 150 – – –
Profit from operations 4, 5 25,240 19,466 (361) 19,105
Finance income 11 147 108 – 108
Finance costs 12 (110) (111) – (111)
Profit before taxation 25,277 19,463 (361) 19,102
Income tax 13 (5,143) (3,410) – (3,410)
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 20,134 16,053 (361) 15,692
Earnings per share
Basic 15 9.52p 7.65p (0.17p) 7.48p
Diluted 15 9.39p 7.55p (0.17p) 7.38p
Adjusted diluted 15 9.46p 7.66p (0.17p) 7.49p

The above results relate to continuing operations.

Year ended 
31 December 

2017 
£’000

Year ended 
31 December 

2016
£’000 

Profit for the year 20,134 15,692
Items that will potentially be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 2,187 8,851
Gain / (loss) arising on cash flow hedges 4,192 (3,009)
Other comprehensive income for the year 6,379 5,842
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 26,513 21,534
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Consolidated Statement Of Financial Position
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Note
2017

£’000
2016

£’000 

Assets
Non-current assets
Acquired intellectual property rights 16 9,675 9,468
Software intangibles 16 3,078 2,500
Development costs 16 2,135 1,645
Goodwill 19 41,801 40,337
Property, plant and equipment 17 17,019 16,177
Deferred tax assets 18 199  – 
Trade and other receivables 21 286 10

74,193 70,137
Current assets
Inventories 20 11,073 11,440
Trade and other receivables 21 20,950 11,872
Current tax assets  48  432 
Cash and cash equivalents 22 62,454 51,125

94,525 74,869
Total assets 168,718 145,006
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 10,547 12,901
Current tax liabilities 2,290 2,049
Other taxes payable 15 85

12,852 15,035
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 310 1,291
Deferred tax liabilities 18 3,120 3,152

3,430 4,443
Total liabilities 16,282 19,478
Net assets 152,436 125,528
Equity
Share capital 27 10,632 10,524
Share premium 34,778 34,005
Share-based payments reserve 4,676 3,469
Investment in own shares 28 (152) (152)
Share-based payments deferred tax reserve 815 459
Other reserve 28 1,531 1,531
Hedging reserve 28 658 (3,534)
Translation reserve 28 2,823 636
Retained earnings 96,675 78,590
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 152,436 125,528

The Financial Statements of Advanced Medical Solutions Group plc (registration number 2867684) on pages 66 to 93 were approved by the 
Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 17 April 2018 and were signed on its behalf by:

Chris Meredith
Chief Executive Officer

17 April 2018
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Share
capital
£’000

Share
premium

£’000

Share–
based

payments
£’000

Investment
in own
Shares
£’000

Share-based
payments 

deferred tax
£’000

Other
reserve

£’000

Hedging
reserve

£’000

Translation
reserve

£’000

Retained 
earnings

£’000
Total

£’000

At 1 January 2016 10,451 33,196 2,253 (152) 437 1,531 (525) (8,215) 64,681 103,657
Consolidated profit for the year to 
31 December 2016  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 15,692 15,692
Other comprehensive (expense)/
income  –  –  –  –  –  – (3,009) 8,851  – 5,842
Total comprehensive income  –  –  –  –  –  – (3,009) 8,851  15,692 21,534

Share-based payments  –  – 1,230  – 22  –  –  –  – 1,252
Share options exercised 73 809 (14)  –  –  –  –  –  – 868
Shares purchased by EBT  –  –  – (449)  –  –  –  –  – (449)
Shares sold by EBT  –  –  – 449  –  –  –  –  – 449
Dividends paid  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (1,783) (1,783)
At 31 December 2016 10,524 34,005 3,469 (152) 459 1,531 (3,534) 636 78,590 125,528
Consolidated profit for the year 
to 31 December 2017  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 20,134 20,134
Other comprehensive income  –  –  –  –  –  – 4,192  2,187  –  6,379 
Total comprehensive income  –  –  –  –  –  – 4,192  2,187  20,134  26,513 

Share-based payments  –  – 1,279  –  356  –  –  –  – 1,635
Share options exercised 108 773 (72)  –  –  –  –  –  –  809 
Shares purchased by EBT  –  –  – (484)  –  –  –  –  – (484)
Shares sold by EBT  –  –  –  484  –  –  –  –  – 484
Dividends paid  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (2,049) (2,049)
At 31 December 2017 10,632 34,778 4,676 (152) 815 1,531 658 2,823 96,675 152,436

Consolidated Statement Of Changes In Equity
Attributable to equity holders of the Group
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Consolidated Statement Of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Year ended
31 December

2017
£’000

Year ended
31 December

2016
£’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit from operations 25,240 19,105
Adjustments for:

Depreciation 2,053 1,898
Amortisation
– intellectual property rights 134 242
– software intangibles 415 329
– development costs 380 441
Impairment of development costs –  125 
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 505 (2,005)
Increase in trade and other receivables (8,627) (674)
Increase in trade and other payables 73 1,199
Share-based payments expense 1,279 1,230
Taxation (4,486) (2,065)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 16,966 19,825
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of software (958) (795)
Capitalised research and development (860) (259)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (2,901) (1,523)
Disposal of property, plant and equipment 264 41
Interest received 147 109
Net cash used in investing activities (4,308) (2,427)
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid (2,049) (1,783)
Finance lease – (1)
Issue of equity shares 809 868
Shares purchased by EBT (484) (449)
Shares sold by EBT 484 449
Interest paid (110) (111)
Net cash used in financing activities (1,350) (1,027)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 11,308 16,371
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 51,125 34,201
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 21 553
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 62,454 51,125
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1  Reporting entity
Advanced Medical Solutions Group plc (“the Company”) is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales 
(registration number 2867684). The Company’s registered address is Premier Park, 33 Road One, Winsford Industrial Estate, Cheshire, CW7 3RT.

The Company’s Ordinary Shares are traded on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange plc. The Consolidated Financial Statements of the 
Company for the twelve months ended 31 December 2017 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”).

The Group is primarily involved in the design, development, manufacture and distribution of novel high performance polymers (both natural 
and synthetic) for use in advanced woundcare dressings and materials, medical adhesives for closing and sealing tissue, and sutures and 
haemostats for sale into the global medical device market. 

2  Basis of preparation
The Group accounts have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as adopted by the EU. 
The Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis of accounting except as disclosed in the accounting policies set 
out below.

The individual Financial Statements for each Group Company are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
it operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the Consolidated Financial Statements, the results and financial position of each 
Group Company are expressed in Pounds Sterling, which is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation currency for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

In carrying out their duties in respect of going concern, the Directors have carried out a review of the Group’s financial position and cash flow 
forecasts for the next 12 months. These have been based on a comprehensive review of revenue, expenditure and cash flows, taking into 
account specific business risks and the current forecast economic environment for the next 12 months. 

With regards to the Group’s financial position, it had cash and cash equivalents at the year end of £62.5 million. The Group also has in place a 
five-year, unsecured, multi-currency, revolving credit facility for £30 million which was undrawn during 2017.

While the current economic environment is uncertain, the Group operates in markets whose demographics are favourable, underpinned by 
an increasing need for products to treat chronic and acute wounds. Consequently, market growth is predicted. The Group has a number of 
contracts with customers across different geographic regions and also with substantial financial resources, ranging from government agencies 
through to global healthcare companies.

Having taken the above into consideration, the Directors have reached a conclusion that the Group is well placed to manage its business risks 
in the current economic environment. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

In the current year the Group has applied a number of amendments to IFRSs issued by the IASB. Their adoption has not had a material impact 
on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in the Annual Financial Statements. The following amendments were applied:

ee Amendments to IAS 7, Disclosure Initiative
ee Amendments to IAS 12, Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses
ee Annual Improvements to IFRSs: 2014-16 Cycle, specifically amendments to IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning 1 January 2018 and will replace IAS 11 Construction Contracts and IAS 18 Revenue. 
The standard establishes a principles based approach for revenue recognition and is based on the concept of recognising revenue for 
obligations only when they are satisfied and the control of goods or services is transferred. It applies to all contracts with customers, except 
those in the scope of other standards. It replaces the separate models for goods, services and construction contracts under the current 
accounting standards. The Group has decided to adopt the standard early with effect for the year ended 31 December 2017. As a result of the 
early adoption, Other Income of £709,000 (excluding the £2,504,000 royalty income from Organogenesis) has been re-classified as Revenue 
(2016: £621,000). The impact on Profit before Taxation is £nil (2016: £nil).

3  Accounting policies

Critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the course of preparing the Financial Statements, no critical judgements have been made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting 
policies, nor are there any key sources of estimation uncertainty that exist which may cause a material impact in the next 12 months.

Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
of an entity so as to retain benefits from its activities. The Financial Statements of the subsidiaries are included in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements on the basis of acquisition accounting, from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions and balances between Group entities are eliminated upon consolidation.

Business combinations
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the 
fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, the equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange 
for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the issue of debt or equity. Acquisition related expenses are accounted for as 
expenses in the period in which the costs are incurred and the services rendered, with the exception of directly attributable costs incurred as 
a result of raising equity, which are off-set against share premium, and raising debt, which are capitalised and amortised over the term of the 
debt. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 are recognised 
at their fair value at the acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with 
IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, which are recognised and measured at fair value less costs to sell.

Notes Forming Part of the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business 
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. If, after 
reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost 
of the business combination, the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition date). Goodwill is 
measured as the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities of a subsidiary or associate at the date of acquisition. If after restatement, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of 
the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each 
of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has 
been allocated are tested for impairment at least annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce 
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis. An impairment loss recognised for 
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Revenue recognition
The Group manufactures and sells a range of innovative and technologically advanced products for the global surgical, woundcare and wound 
closure markets. Sales are recognised when control of the products has transferred to the customer in accordance with the contractual 
shipping terms, the customer has discretion over the channel and price to sell the products in accordance with the sales contract, and there is 
no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. Transfer occurs when the products have been shipped 
to the specific location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customer, and either the customer has accepted the 
products in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for 
acceptance have been satisfied.

Occasionally, the products are sold with volume discounts based on aggregate sales over a 12 month period. Revenue from these sales is 
recognised based on the price specified in the contract, net of the estimated volume discounts. The Group recognised £92.6 million revenue 
in the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: £81.8 million). Accumulated experience and customer-provided forecasts is used to estimate 
and provide for the discounts, using the expected value method, and revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a 
significant reversal will not occur. No element of finance is deemed present as the sales are made with a credit term of up to 90 days, which is 
consistent with market practice. A receivable is recognised when the goods are transferred as this is the point in time that the consideration is 
unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the payment is due. 

The Group also recognises revenue from royalty income receivable under licence agreements from external customers at amounts excluding 
value added tax as the products under licence are sold and the revenue can be reliably measured. For the year ended 31 December 2017, 
£3.3 million (2016: £0.8 million) revenue from royalty income was recognised.

Other income
Other income relates to tax credits received under the UK Research and Development Expenditure Credit (RDEC) scheme and is recognised in 
the Income Statement in the same period in which the expense is incurred.

Exceptional items
Exceptional items are those items that are significant for separate disclosure by virtue of their size, nature or incidence, or that the Directors 
consider should be disclosed separately to enable a full understanding of the Group’s financial performance. This includes non-recurring 
transaction costs (see Note 6). Exceptional items have been presented separately on the face of the Income Statement. The Directors consider 
that this presentation gives a fairer presentation of the results of the Group.

Finance income
Finance income relates to interest earned on cash, cash equivalents and investments. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference 
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable.

Finance costs
Finance costs relate to finance payments associated with financial liabilities. They are recognised in the Income Statement as they accrue using 
the effective interest method.

Finance costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily 
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are 
substantially ready for their intended use.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted 
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.
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3  Accounting policies continued

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the Balance Sheet date are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange 
differences arising on translation are recognised in the Income Statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated at foreign exchange rates ruling 
at the date the fair value was determined.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, are translated at foreign 
exchange rates ruling at the Balance Sheet date. The revenue and expenses of foreign operations are translated at an average rate for the 
period unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly. Exchange differences arising on consolidation are recognised in equity within the Group’s 
translation reserve. Such translation differences are recognised as income or expense in the period in which the operation is disposed of.

Hedging
The Group designates certain hedging instruments, which include derivatives, embedded derivatives and non-derivatives in respect of foreign 
currency risk, as either fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of net investments in foreign operations. Hedges of foreign exchange 
risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow hedges. At the inception of the hedge relationship, the entity documents the 
relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking 
various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging 
instrument is highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item. Note 24 sets out details of the fair values of 
the derivative instruments used for hedging purposes. Movements in the hedging reserve in equity are detailed in the Consolidated Statement 
of Changes in Equity.

Taxation
Taxation expense includes the amount of current income tax payable and the charge for the year in respect of deferred taxation.

The income tax payable is based on an estimation of the amount due on the taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit is different from Profit 
before Taxation as reported in the Income Statement because it excludes items of income or expenditure which are not taxable or deductible 
in the year as a result of either the nature of the item or the fact that it is taxable or deductible in another period. The Group’s liability for current 
tax is calculated by using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the Balance Sheet date.

Deferred tax is accounted for on a basis of temporary differences, except to the extent where it arises from the initial recognition of goodwill 
or of an asset or liability in a transaction where it is probable the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax 
assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which temporary differences can 
be utilised.

Deferred tax is charged or credited to the Income Statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which 
case it is dealt with within equity. It is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability 
is settled based on tax laws enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Intangible assets
Acquired intellectual property rights
Intellectual property rights that are acquired in a business combination are initially recognised at their fair value. Intellectual property rights 
purchased outright are initially recognised at cost. Intellectual property rights are capitalised and amortised over their estimated useful 
economic lives. In determining the useful economic life each asset is reviewed separately and consideration given to the period over which 
the Group expects to derive economic benefit from the asset.

Development costs
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge, is recognised in the Income 
Statement as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Expenditure on development activities, where research findings are applied to a plan or design for the production of new or substantially 
improved products and processes, is capitalised once it can be demonstrated that the product or process is clearly identifiable, technically 
and commercially feasible, will generate future economic benefits, that the development costs of the asset can be measured reliably and 
the Group has sufficient resources to complete development. Expenditure capitalised is stated as the cost of materials and direct labour less 
accumulated amortisation.

Where development expenditure results in new or substantially improved products or processes and it is probable that recovery will take 
place, it is capitalised and amortised on a straight-line basis over the product’s useful life starting from the date on which serial production 
commences, which is between one and ten years. Patents and trademarks are measured initially at purchase cost and are amortised on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which is between three and 20 years.

Software intangibles
Where computer software is not integral to an item of property, plant or equipment its costs are capitalised and categorised as intangible 
assets. Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over its economic useful life, which is in the range of three to ten years.

Notes Forming Part of the Consolidated Financial Statements
continued
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Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings and plant and equipment held for use in the production of goods and services or for administrative purposes are carried in 
the Balance Sheet at cost less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

The Group elected to use the fair value as the deemed cost in respect of land and buildings at the date of transition to IFRS. Fair value was 
calculated by reference to their existing use at the date of transition.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost, less estimated residual values, of all property, plant and equipment, over the expected useful life 
of the asset from the date that the asset is brought into use. It is calculated at the following rates:

ee Freehold property and improvements	 – 4% per annum on cost
ee Leasehold improvements	 – over the length of the lease
ee Plant and machinery	 – 6.7% to 33.3% per annum on cost
ee Fixtures and fittings	 – 33.3% per annum on cost
ee Motor vehicles	 – 25% per annum on cost

Property, plant and equipment in the course of construction for production are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. 
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property, plant and equipment assets, commences when the assets are ready for their 
intended use.

No depreciation is provided on freehold land.

Impairment of intangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill
The carrying amount of the Group’s assets other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each balance sheet date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are recognised in the Income Statement.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit on a pro 
rata basis. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash 
inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell or value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money.

Reversal of impairment
An impairment loss in respect of a receivable carried at amortised cost is reversed if the subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed when there is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer exist and there 
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Inventory
Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs 
that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition and an attributable proportion of manufacturing 
overheads based on normal levels of activity.

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price less further costs to completion and disposal.

The Group makes provision for inventory deemed to be irrecoverable or where the net realisable value is lower than cost. This provision is 
established on a stock keeping unit (SKU) basis by reference to the age of the stock, the forward order book, management’s experience and its 
assessment of the present value of estimated future cash flow.

Financial Instruments
Classification of financial instruments
Financial instruments are classified as financial assets, financial liabilities or equity instruments.

Financial instruments issued by the Group are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet the following two conditions:

ee They include no contractual obligations upon the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets that are potentially unfavourable to the 
Group; and 

ee Where the instrument will or may be settled in the Group’s own equity instruments, it is either a non-derivative that includes no obligation 
to deliver a variable number of the Group’s own equity instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the Group exchanging a fixed 
amount of cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability.
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3  Accounting policies continued
Recognition and valuation of financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and cash deposits and amounts under short-term guarantees usually three 
months or less that are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments and are subject to insignificant risk in change in value 
and which are readily convertible to a known amount of cash. Cash held in accounts with more than 90 days’ notice that are not required to 
meet short-term cash commitments are shown as an investment.

Investments
Cash held in accounts with more than 90 days’ notice that are not required to meet short-term cash commitments are shown as an 
investment. The Group invests funds which are surplus to requirements in fixed rate deposits operating within parameters for credit ratings and 
credit limits for individual institutions that are approved and monitored by the Board.

Under IAS 39 ‘Financial instruments; recognition and measurement’, such investments are classified as loans and receivables and are 
recognised at fair value on initial recognition and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are recognised and carried at the lower of their original invoiced value and recoverable amount. An impairment is made 
when it is likely that the balance will not be recovered in full. The recoverable amount is calculated as the present value of estimated future 
cash flows. Estimated future cash flows are not discounted due to the relatively short period of time between recognition of trade receivables 
and receipt of cash.

Recognition and valuation of equity instruments
Equity instruments are stated at par value. Any premium on issue is taken to the share premium account.

Recognition and valuation of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into.

Trade payables
Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Other loans
Other loans are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently recognised at amortised cost.

Financial liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (‘FVTPL’)
A derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument is classified as held for trading. Financial liabilities are classified as at 
FVTPL where the financial liabilities are held for trading.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. Fair value is determined in the 
manner described in Note 24.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate risk. Further details of derivative 
financial instruments are disclosed in Note 24 to the Financial Statements.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their 
fair value at each Balance Sheet date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss (administrative costs) immediately unless the 
derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the 
nature of the hedge relationship. The Group currently designates certain derivatives as hedges of highly probable forecast transactions or 
hedges of foreign currency risk of firm commitments (cash flow hedges). A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset 
whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is recognised as a financial liability.

Derivatives with remaining maturity of less than 12 months are presented as current assets or current liabilities.

Leased assets
Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group. 
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held as finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease 
payments during the lease term at the inception of the lease. Lease payments are apportioned between the reduction of the lease liability and 
finance charges in the Income Statement so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Assets held under 
finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the assets and the lease term.

Assets leased under operating leases are not recorded on the Balance Sheet. Rental payments are charged directly to the Income Statement. 
Lease incentives, primarily up-front cash payments or rent-free periods, are capitalised and spread over the period of the lease term on a 
straight line basis unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the users’ benefit. Payments made to acquire 
operating leases are treated as prepaid lease expenses and amortised over the life of the lease.

Pensions
The Group operates a money purchase pension scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an 
independently administered fund. The amount charged against the Income Statement represents the contributions payable to the scheme in 
respect of the accounting period.

Notes Forming Part of the Consolidated Financial Statements
continued
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Share-based payments
The Group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 ‘Share-based payments’. IFRS has been applied to all options granted after 7 November 
2002 that were unvested as of 1 January 2006.

The Group issues equity–settled share-based payments to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value 
at the date of grant. The fair value as determined at the grant date of equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis 
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of options that will eventually vest. At each Balance Sheet date the Group revises its 
estimate of the number expected to vest as a result of the effect of non-market based vesting conditions. The impact, if any, is recognised in 
profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to reserves.

Fair value is measured by use of a Black-Scholes Merton or Monte Carlo model. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based 
on management’s best estimate, for the effect of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

Capital management
For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group had net funds with no borrowings. Capital is managed by maximising retained 
profits. Working capital is managed in order to generate maximum conversion of these profits into cash and cash equivalents thereby 
maintaining capital.

Capital includes share capital, share premium, investment in own shares, share-based payments reserve, share-based payments deferred tax 
reserve, other reserve, translation reserve and retained earnings reserve. There are no externally imposed capital requirements on the Group.

Employee Benefit Trusts
The Group operates an Employee Benefit Trust (EBT): ‘Advanced Medical Solutions Group plc UK Employee Benefit Trust’.

The Group has de facto control of the assets, liabilities and shares held by the Trust and bear their benefits and risks. The Group records assets 
and liabilities of the Trust as its own.

In compliance with IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation Group’, shares held by the EBT are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet 
as a reduction in equity. Gains and losses on Group shares are recognised directly in reserves.

IFRS not yet effective and not adopted early
New accounting standards not yet applied

At the date of authorisation of the Annual Financial Statements, the following new and revised IFRSs that are potentially relevant to the Group, 
and which have not been applied in the Annual Financial Statements, were in issue but not yet effective (and in some cases had not yet been 
adopted by the EU):

ee IFRS 9, Financial Instruments – effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
ee IFRIC 22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration – effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
ee Amendments to IFRS 2, Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions – effective for accounting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2018.

ee Annual Improvements to IFRSs: 2014-16 Cycle, IFRS 1 and IAS 28 Amendments – effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2018.

ee IFRS 16, Leases – effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
ee IFRIC 23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments – effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

The Directors do not expect that the adoption of the standards listed above will have a material impact on the Financial Statements of the 
Group in future periods, except as follows:

IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning 1 January 2019 and will replace IAS 17 Leases. The standard represents a significant change 
in the accounting and reporting of leases for lessees as it provides a single lessee accounting model. As such it requires lessees to recognise 
assets and liabilities for all leases unless the underlying asset has a low value or the lease term is 12 months or less. The standard may also 
require the capitalisation of a lease element of contracts held by the Group which under the existing accounting standard would not be 
considered a lease. Early adoption is permitted if IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ has also been applied, however the Group 
does not expect to undertake this option.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group holds a number of operating leases, which currently, under IAS 17, are expensed on a straight line basis 
over the lease term. The Group has made the following estimates of the approximate impacts of adopting the new standard, which are 
sensitive to all changes up to the application date. If the standard had been adopted in the current year, a depreciation charge of around 
£1.0 million in relation to the right-of-use asset and a finance expense charge of around £0.6 million would have been recognised in place 
of the operating lease charge of £1.3 million. In addition, a right-of-use asset and largely offsetting lease liability of approximately £11.0 million 
would be recognised in the statement of financial position.
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4  Segment information
The Group has reviewed its business structure and has consolidated its Business Units from four to two. The Branded Direct and Branded 
Distributed Business Units have now been combined into the Branded Business Unit which is responsible for selling, marketing and innovation 
of all AMS branded products, whether sold directly by our sales teams or through our distributors. The OEM and Bulk Business Units have been 
consolidated within the OEM Business Unit and is responsible for the distribution, marketing and innovation of the Group’s products that are 
supplied to our medical device partners under their brands. This new structure provides improved marketing efficiencies and supports the 
strategic initiatives of the Group, and is the level at which the Board reviews and evaluates performance.

The Group’s strategic initiatives continue to be:

ee Growing the business by investing in R&D
ee Extending the markets for our existing products
ee Evaluating acquisition opportunities that align with the Group’s strategy

Segment information about these businesses is presented below with the comparative information restated to align with the new 
segmental structure.

Year ended 31 December 2017
Branded

£’000
OEM

£’000
Consolidated

£’000

Revenue
External sales 55,244 41,664 96,908
Result
Segment result 14,336 11,354 25,690
Unallocated expenses (450)
Profit from operations 25,240
Finance income 147
Finance costs (110)
Profit before tax 25,277
Tax (5,143)
Profit for the year 20,134

At 31 December 2017
Branded

£’000
OEM

£’000
Consolidated

£’000

Other information
Capital additions:
Software intangibles 715 243 958
Research & development 425 435 860
Property, plant and equipment 1,563 1,338 2,901
Depreciation and amortisation (1,192) (1,790) (2,982)
Balance sheet
Assets
Segment assets 112,057 56,580 168,637
Unallocated assets 81
Consolidated total assets 168,718
Liabilities
Segment liabilities 10,406 5,876 16,282
Consolidated total liabilities 16,282

Year ended 31 December 2016 (restated)
Branded

£’000
OEM

£’000
Consolidated

£’000

Revenue
External sales 45,427 37,815 83,242
Result
Segment result 11,313 8,677 19,990
Unallocated expenses (885)
Profit from operations 19,105
Finance income 108
Finance costs (111)
Profit before tax 19,102
Tax (3,410)
Profit for the year 15,692

Notes Forming Part of the Consolidated Financial Statements
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At 31 December 2016 (restated)
Branded

£’000
OEM

£’000
Consolidated

£’000

Other Information
Capital additions:
Software intangibles 596 199 795
Research & development 157 102 259
Property, plant and equipment 1,105 418 1,523
Depreciation and amortisation (1,310) (1,600) (2,910)

Balance sheet
Assets
Segment assets 97,498 47,388 144,886
Unallocated assets 120
Consolidated total assets 145,006
Liabilities
Segment liabilities 12,020 7,458 19,478
Consolidated total liabilities 19,478

Geographic segments
The Group operates in the UK, Germany, the Netherlands, the Czech Republic, with sales offices in Russia and a sales presence in the US. 
In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical location of customers. 
Segment assets are based on the geographical location of the assets.	

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s sales by geographical market, irrespective of the origin of the goods/services, based 
upon location of the Group’s customers:

Year ended 
31 December  

2017
£’000

Year ended 
31 December  

2016
£’000 

United Kingdom 17,266 17,957
Germany 19,062 18,466
Europe excluding United Kingdom and Germany 22,939 21,360
United States of America 35,330 23,505
Rest of World 2,311 1,954
 96,908 83,242

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s total assets by geographical location.
Year ended 31 

December 
2017

£’000

Year ended 31 
December  

2016
£’000 

United Kingdom 98,305 80,580
Germany 65,212 59,950
Europe excluding United Kingdom and Germany 4,743 3,962
United States of America 458 514
 168,718 145,006
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5  Profit from operations
Year ended 

31 December  
2017

£’000

Year ended 
31 December  

2016
£’000 

Profit from operations is arrived at after charging:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,053 1,898
Amortisation of: 
–  acquired intellectual property rights 134 242
–  software intangibles 415 329
–  development costs 380 441
Impairment of development cost – 125
Operating lease rentals	 – plant and machinery 248 253
				    – land and buildings 1,005 917
Research and development costs expensed to the Income Statement 2,052 2,276
Cost of inventories recognised as expense 36,516 33,498
Write down of inventories expensed 1,448 634
Staff costs 29,920 26,162
Net foreign exchange loss 2,427 1,271

6  Exceptional items
During 2017, no exceptional costs were incurred (2016: £0.4 million – relating to an acquisition that was not progressed in the year).

7  Auditor’s remuneration
Amounts payable to Deloitte LLP and their associates in respect of both audit and non-audit services:

Year ended 
31 December  

2017
£’000

Year ended 
31 December  

2016
£’000 

Fees payable to the Company's auditor and their associates for the audit of the Company's annual accounts  18  13 
Fees payable to the Company's auditor and their associates for other audit services to the Group
  – the audit of the Company's subsidiaries  97  71 
Total audit fees  115  84 

Audit related assurance services  13  13 
Other services  6  4 
Corporate finance services relating to an aborted acquisition  –  114 
Total non audit fees  19  131 

 134  215 

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor, Deloitte LLP and its associates, for non-audit services to the Company are not required to be disclosed 
in subsidiaries’ accounts because the Consolidated Financial Statements are required to disclose such fees on a consolidated basis.

A description of the work of the Audit Committee is set out in the Governance section of the Annual Report which includes explanations of 
how the audit objectivity and independence is safeguarded when non-audit service are provided by the Auditor.

Notes Forming Part of the Consolidated Financial Statements
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8  Employees
The average monthly number of employees of the Group during the year, including Executive Directors, was as follows:

Year ended 
31 December  

2017

Year ended 
31 December  

2016

Production 343 303
Research and development 36 30
Sales and marketing 128 120
Administration 96 86

603 539

Year ended 
31 December  

2017
£’000

Year ended 
31 December  

2016
£’000 

Staff costs for all employees, including Executive Directors, consists of:
Wages and salaries 23,697 20,979
Social Security costs 3,853 2,965
Pension costs 1,091 988
Share-based payments (see Note 29) 1,279 1,230

29,920 26,162

9  Directors’ Emoluments
Year ended 

31 December  
2017

£’000

Year ended 
31 December  

2016
£’000 

Remuneration for management services 1,046 967
Pension 48 52
Amounts paid to third parties 66 65
Share-based payments 395 442

1,555 1,526

Retirement benefits are accruing to the following number of Directors under money purchase schemes 2 2

10  Remuneration of Key Management Personnel
The key management of the Group comprises the Directors of the Group together with senior members of the management team. 
Their aggregate compensation is shown below:

Year ended 
31 December  

2017
£’000

Year ended 
31 December  

2016
£’000 

Salaries and short-term employee benefits 2,286  2,334 
Pension 100  108 
Share-based payments 740  795 

3,126  3,237 

11  Finance Income
Year ended 

31 December  
2017

£’000

Year ended 
31 December  

2016
£’000 

Bank interest 147  108 

12  Finance costs
Year ended 

31 December  
2017

£’000

Year ended 
31 December  

2016
£’000 

Amortisation of facility fees  110  111 
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13  Taxation 
a) Analysis of charge for the year

Year ended 
31 December  

2017
£’000

Year ended 
31 December  

2016
£’000 

Current tax:
Tax on ordinary activities – current year 5,397 3,180
Tax on ordinary activities – prior year (296) (358)

5,101 2,822

Deferred tax:
Tax on ordinary activities – current year 42 599
Effect of reduction in UK corporation tax rates  – (11)

42 588
Tax charge for the year 5,143 3,410

The Group has chosen to use a weighted average country tax rate rather than the UK tax rate for the reconciliation of the charge for the year 
to the profit per the Income Statement. The Group operates in several jurisdictions, some of which have a tax rate in excess of the UK tax rate. 
As such, a weighted average country tax rate is believed to provide the most meaningful information to the users of the Financial Statements.

b) Factors affecting tax charge for the year
The tax assessed for the year is lower (2016: lower) than the weighted average Group tax rate of 21.91% (2016: 22.11%) as explained below:

Year ended 
31 December  

2017
£’000

Year ended 
31 December  

2016
£’000 

Profit before taxation 25,277 19,102
Weighted average Group tax rate 21.91% (2016:22.11%) 5,538 4,224
Effects of:
Net expenses not deductible for tax purposes and other timing differences 1 19
Utilisation and recognition of trading losses – (203)
Patent box relief (310) (242)
Net impact of deferred tax on capitalised development costs and R&D relief 170 (183)
Share-based payments 37 (47)
Adjustments in respect of prior year – current tax (293) (359)
Adjustments in respect of prior year and rate changes – deferred tax –  201 
Taxation 5,143 3,410

Legislation to reduce the main rate of UK corporation tax to 17% was passed by Parliament in September 2016 to take effect from 1 April 2020. 
The reduction in the main rate to 17% had been substantively enacted at the Balance Sheet date and, therefore, the deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are calculated in these Financial Statements at this rate.

In addition to the amount charged to the Income Statement and other Comprehensive Income, the Group has recognised directly in equity:

ee Excess tax deductions related to share-based payments on exercised options
ee Changes in excess deferred tax deductions related to share-based payments, totalling £356,000 deficit: (2016: £22,000 deficit).

Notes Forming Part of the Consolidated Financial Statements
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14  Dividends
Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the period:

Year ended 
31 December  

2017
£’000

Year ended 
31 December  

2016
£’000 

Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2016 of 0.62p (2015: 0.55p) per Ordinary Share  1,307  1,150 
Interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017 of 0.35p (2016: 0.30p) per Ordinary Share  742  633 

 2,049  1,783 
Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017 of 0.75p (2016: 0.62p) per Ordinary Share  1,595  1,307 

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by the shareholders and has not been included as a liability in these Financial Statements.

15  Earnings per share
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

Year ended 
31 December  

2017
£’000

Year ended 
31 December  

2016
£’000 

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent
Pre exceptional items 20,134 16,053
Post exceptional items 20,134 15,692

Number of shares ‘000 ‘000

Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share 211,563 209,815
Effect of dilutive potential Ordinary Shares: share options, deferred share bonus, LTIPs 2,760 2,778
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share 214,323 212,593

‘000 ‘000

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 20,134 16,053
Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings per share being net profit attributable to equity holders 
of the parent
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 134 242
Adjusted profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 20,268 16,295

Earnings per share pence pence

Basic – pre exceptional 9.52 7.65
Basic – post exceptional 9.52 7.48
Diluted – pre exceptional 9.39 7.55
Diluted – post exceptional 9.39 7.38
Adjusted basic (before exceptional items) 9.58 7.77
Adjusted diluted (before exceptional items) 9.46 7.66
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16  Acquired intellectual property rights, software intangibles and development costs
Acquired

intellectual
property rights

£’000

Software
intangibles

£’000

Development
costs

£’000
Total

£’000

2017
Cost
At beginning of year  12,897  3,724  3,735  20,356 
Additions  –  958  860  1,818 
Disposals / impairment  – (14)  – (14)
Exchange differences  340 43  11 394
At end of year  13,237  4,711  4,606  22,554 
Amortisation
At beginning of year  3,429  1,224  2,090  6,743 
Charged in the year  134  415  380  929 
Disposals / impairment  – (14)  – (14)
Exchange differences (1) 8 1 8
At end of year  3,562  1,633  2,471  7,666 
Net book value
At 31 December 2017  9,675  3,078  2,135  14,888 
At 31 December 2016  9,468  2,500  1,645  13,613 

Acquired intellectual property rights were initially recognised on the acquisition of MedLogic Global Limited representing patents and on the 
acquisition of RESORBA® representing brand names, know-how and customer listings and contracts.

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis and the amortisation is recognised within administration costs, the largest intangible 
asset being RESORBA® ‘know-how’ which is being amortised over ten years with four years remaining, with the exception of the RESORBA® 
brand name, which the Directors believe has an unlimited useful economic life and has a carrying value of £9.2 million. In reaching this 
assessment, the Directors have considered that the RESORBA® brand has existed for over 80 years and is widely recognised as a market leader 
in the surgical market.

Acquired
intellectual

property rights
£’000

Software
intangibles

£’000

Development
costs

£’000
Total

£’000

2016
Cost
At beginning of year  11,541  2,859  3,340  17,740 
Additions  –  795  364  1,159 
Exchange differences  1,356  70 31 1,457
At end of year  12,897  3,724  3,735  20,356 
Amortisation
At beginning of year  3,182  850  1,537  5,569 
Charged in the year  242  329  441  1,012 
Disposals / Impairment  –  –  125  125 
Exchange differences  5 45 (13) 37
At end of year  3,429  1,224  2,090  6,743 
Net book value
At 31 December 2016  9,468  2,500  1,645  13,613 
At 31 December 2015  8,359  2,009  1,803  12,171 
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17  Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land, 

property and
improvements

£’000

Short
leasehold

improvements
£’000

Plant and 
machinery

£’000

Fixtures
and

fittings
£’000

Motor
vehicles

£’000

Assets
under

construction 
£’000

Total 
£’000

2017
Cost
At beginning of year  5,034  12  23,876  688  719  –  30,329 
Additions  142  –  2,308  60  391  –  2,901 
Disposals –  – (558) – –  – (558)
Exchange adjustment  145  –  181  4  29  –  359 
At end of year  5,321  12  25,807  752  1,139  –  33,031 
Depreciation
At beginning of year  657  10  12,983  386  116  –  14,152 
Provided for the year  140  –  1,659  54  200  –  2,053 
Disposals  –  – (294) – –  – (294)
Exchange adjustment  4  –  88  1  8  –  101 
At end of year  801  10  14,436  441  324  –  16,012 
Net book value
At 31 December 2017  4,520  2  11,371  311  815  –  17,019 
At 31 December 2016  4,377  2  10,893  302  603  –  16,177 

At 31 December 2017, the Group had entered into contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment amounting 
to £1.4 million (2016: £0.4 million).

The net book value of plant and equipment includes £146,000 of plant and machinery (2016: £167,000) of capitalised borrowing costs relating 
to the Winsford site.

Freehold land, 
property and

improvements
£’000

Short
leasehold

improvements
£’000

Plant and 
machinery

£’000

Fixtures
and

fittings
£’000

Motor
vehicles

£’000

Assets
under

construction 
£’000

Total 
£’000

2016
Cost
At beginning of year  4,443  12  22,430  679  641  72  28,277 
Additions  29  –  1,247  12  235  –  1,523 
Transfer of assets into use  –  –  72  –  – (72)  – 
Disposals (2)  – (493) (18) (239)  – (752)
Exchange adjustment  564  –  620  15  82  –  1,281 
At end of year  5,034  12  23,876  688  719  –  30,329 
Depreciation
At beginning of year  451  10  11,566  340  115  –  12,482 
Provided for the year  124  –  1,572  58  144  –  1,898 
Disposals  –  – (457) (17) (157)  – (631)
Exchange adjustment  82  –  302  5  14  –  403 
At end of year  657  10  12,983  386  116  –  14,152 
Net book value
At 31 December 2016  4,377  2  10,893  302  603  –  16,177 
At 31 December 2015  3,992  2  10,864  339  526  72  15,795 
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18  Deferred tax
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current and prior 
reporting year.

Share-based
 payment

£’000

Tax
losses
£’000

Advanced 
capital 

allowances
£’000

Intangible
assets
£’000

Research and 
development 

assets
£’000

Total
£’000

At 31 December 2015  562  590 (664) (2,311) (353) (2,176)
Charge to income  100 (590)  51 (199)  50 (588)
Charge to equity  22  –  –  –  –  22 
Exchange adjustment  –  –  – (410)  – (410)
At 31 December 2016  684  – (613) (2,920) (303) (3,152)
Charge to income  34  26 25 (127) (42)
Charge to equity  356  –  –  –  –  356 
Exchange adjustment  –  –  – (83)  – (83)
At 31 December 2017  1,074  – (587) (2,978) (430) (2,921)

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial 
reporting purposes:

2017
£’000

2016
£’000 

Deferred tax liabilities (3,995) (3,836)
Deferred tax assets 1,074 684

(2,921) (3,152)

At the balance sheet date, the Group has £nil unused tax losses (2016: £0.6 million) available for offset against future profits.

19  Goodwill
2017

£’000
2016

£’000 

Cost
At 1 January 40,337 34,579
Exchange differences  1,464 5,758
At 31 December 41,801 40,337

Two cash-generating units (CGU) exist within the Branded segment whereby goodwill has been allocated. CGU1 has £1.8 million 
(2016: £1.5 million) of goodwill allocated, and CGU2 has goodwill and indefinite useful life intangible assets of £38.8 million and £9.2 million 
(2016: £37.5 million and £8.9 million) respectively. Only one CGU has been identified within the OEM segment to which goodwill has 
been allocated.

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Advanced Medical Solutions B.V. on 30 September 2009 and the acquisition of RESORBA® on 
22 December 2011.

The goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful economic life have been allocated to the relevant Business Units in proportion to 
profit from operations on a consistent basis for both segments, as follows:

At 31 December 2017
Goodwill

£’000

Intangible assets 
with indefinite 

useful life
£’000

Total
£’000

Branded:	 CGU1 1,779  – 1,779
		  CGU2 38,821 9,208 48,029
OEM:	 CGU1 1,201  – 1,201
Consolidated 41,801  9,208 51,009

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amounts have been determined based on a value-in-use calculation on a cash-generating unit basis, which uses cash flow 
projections based on financial budgets approved by the Directors covering a 12 month period. These budgets have been adjusted for specific 
risk factors that take into account sensitivities of the projection. The base 12 month projection is extrapolated using reasonable growth rates 
specific to each cash generating unit up to year five of between 2% and 14% with growth not exceeding the long-term average growth rate for 
the industry for years six to twenty. A discount rate of between 6.5% and 7.25% per annum (2016: between 6.5% and 7.5%), being the Group’s 
current pre tax weighted average cost of capital adjusted for risk, has been applied to these cash flows, being an estimation of current market 
risks and the time value of money. The Group has conducted a sensitivity analysis on the impairment test. The Directors believe that any 
reasonably possible further change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is based would not cause any of the carrying 
amounts to exceed the relevant recoverable amount.

Notes Forming Part of the Consolidated Financial Statements
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20  Inventories
2017

£’000
2016

£’000 

Raw materials 4,773 4,971
Work in progress 2,723 2,819
Finished goods 3,577 3,650

11,073 11,440

There is no material difference between the replacement cost of stock and the amount at which it is stated in the Financial Statements.

Included above are finished goods of £nil (2016: £nil) carried at net realisable value.
2017

£’000
2016

£’000 

Total gross inventories 13,256 12,995
Inventory impairment (2,183) (1,555)
Net inventory 11,073 11,440

21  Trade and other receivables
2017

£’000
2016

£’000 

Current assets
Due within one year:
Trade receivables 19,041 10,456
Other receivables 186 255
Derivative financial instruments 381 –
Prepayments and accrued income 1,342 1,161

20,950 11,872

2017
£’000

2016
£’000 

Amount receivable for the sale of goods 19,233 10,692
Provision for impairment (192) (236)

19,041 10,456

 2017
£’000

 2016
£’000 

Non-current assets
Other receivables 9 10
Derivative financial instruments 277 –

 286 10

The Group’s principal financial assets are cash and trade receivables. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables.

No interest is charged on the receivables within the contracted credit period. Thereafter, interest may be charged at 2% per month on the 
outstanding balance. In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade 
receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the Group’s large 
and unrelated customer base. Accordingly, the Directors believe that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance 
for impairments.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. 
Limits are reviewed on an ongoing basis and reflect current payment history.

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors which are past due at the reporting date for which the Group has not provided as 
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable – a large proportion of debts overdue 
over 30 days were recovered post the Balance Sheet date. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these 
balances. The carrying amount and ageing of these debtors are summarised below.

Ageing of overdue but not impaired receivables
2017

£’000
2016

£’000 

31 to 60 days overdue 832 128
61 to 90 days overdue 107  20 
Total 939 148
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21  Trade and other receivables continued

Movement in provision for impairment
Year ended

 31 December 
2017

£’000

Year ended
 31 December 

2016
£’000 

Balance at the beginning of the year 236 268
Impairment losses recognised 9 100
Amounts written off as uncollectible (15) (1)
Amounts recovered during the year (38) (131)
Balance at the end of the year 192 236

Analysis of customers
In the year ended 31 December 2017, one customer accounted for more than 10% of the Group’s revenue (2016: none). This customer 
accounted for 14% (£13.2 million across the Branded and OEM segments) of the Group’s revenue in 2017.

22  Investments, cash and cash equivalents
2017

£’000
2016

£’000 

Cash and cash equivalents 62,454 51,125

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. The carrying amount 
of these assets is approximately equal to their fair value.

23  Trade and other payables
 2017
£’000

 2016
£’000 

Current liabilities
Trade payables  2,578  3,278 
Other payables  2,051  1,599 
Derivative financial instruments  –  2,605 
Accruals and deferred income  5,918  5,419 

 10,547  12,901 
Non-current liabilities
Other payables  310  362 
Derivative financial instruments  –  929 

 310  1,291 

Trade payables, other payables and accruals and deferred income principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and 
ongoing costs.

No interest is charged on trade payables that are within pre-agreed credit terms. Thereafter, interest may be charged on the outstanding 
balances at various interest rates. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the pre-
agreed credit terms.

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value.

24  Financial instruments

Categories of financial instruments
All financial instruments held by the Group, as detailed in this Note, are classified as ‘Loans and Receivables’ (trade and other receivables, cash 
and cash equivalents), ‘Held to maturity investments’ (short-term investments), ‘Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortised Cost’ (trade and 
other payables, financial liabilities and obligations under finance leases), ‘Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships 
(cash flow hedges)’ and ‘Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)’ (derivative financial instruments) under IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement’ and finance leases under IAS 17 ‘ Leases’.

 2017
£’000

 2016
£’000 

Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents)  81,690  61,846 

Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships  658  – 

Financial liabilities
Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships  –  3,534 
Amortised cost  10,857  10,658 

Notes Forming Part of the Consolidated Financial Statements
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In December 2014 the Group entered into a multi-currency facility with the Royal Bank of Scotland and HSBC. The principle features of the 
facility are:

ee The committed value of the facility is £30 million
ee There is an uncommitted accordion of an additional £20 million
ee It is unsecured
ee Facility will expire in December 2019
ee The interest payable on drawings under the loan is based on inter-bank interest (EURIBOR or, if sterling denominated LIBOR) plus a sliding 
scale margin determined by the Group’s leverage

ee The margin is currently 0.65%
ee The facility has two covenants – interest cover (ratio of EBITDA to net finance charges) must be above 4:1 and leverage (ratio of Total Net 
Debt to adjusted EBITDA) should not exceed 3:1

ee It was undrawn at the end of the year

The Risk Management section on pages 30 to 33 provides an explanation of the financial risks faced by the Group and the objectives and 
policies for managing those risks including hedging practices adopted. The information below deals with the financial assets and liabilities.

(a) Maturity of financial liabilities
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities, of which other loans and finance lease obligations are at fixed rates and denominated in 
Sterling whilst derivative financial instruments are non-interest bearing, is as follows:

Trade and other payables at 31 December 2017
On demand

or within
one year

£’000

Between
one and

two years
£’000

Between
two and

five years
£’000

Five
years 

or more
£’000

Total
financial
liabilities

£’000

2017
 10,547  53  158  99  10,857 

On demand
or within
one year

£’000

Between
one and

two years
£’000

Between
two and

five years
£’000

Five
years 

or more
£’000

Total
financial
liabilities

£’000

2016
Trade and other payables at 31 December 2016  10,296  53  158  151  10,658 

(b) Interest rate and currency of financial assets
The currency and interest rate profile of the financial assets of the Group is as follows:

Investments and cash and cash equivalents

2017
Floating 

£’000

Non-interest
bearing 

£’000 
Total 

£’000

Currency
Sterling  43,173  16,043  59,216 
US Dollar  191  947  1,138 
Euro  1,785  315  2,100 
At 31 December 2017 45,149 17,305 62,454

2016
Floating 

£’000

Non-interest
bearing 

£’000 
Total 

£’000

Currency
Sterling  16,195  30,621  46,816 
US Dollar  136  973  1,109 
Euro  2,625  575  3,200 
At 31 December 2016  18,956  32,169  51,125 

Trade and other receivables
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to their fair value.

 2017
£’000

 2016
£’000 

Sterling  8,545 6,389
US Dollar  4,177 2,399
Euro  8,228 3,084

20,950 11,872

The financial assets all mature within one year.

(c) Currency exposures
At 31 December 2017, the Group had unhedged U.S. Dollar currency exposures of £nil (2016: £nil) and unhedged Euro currency exposures of 
£nil (2016: £nil).
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Risk sensitivity
The Group estimates that a 10% movement in the £:US$ or £:Euro exchange rate would have impacted 2017 Sterling revenues by 
approximately 3.2% and 2.6% respectively and in the absence of any hedging this would have had an impact on profit of 2.7% and 0.3%.

Forward foreign exchange contracts
It is the policy of the Group to enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to cover specific foreign currency payments and receipts.

The following table details the forward foreign currency contracts outstanding as at the year-end:

Outstanding contracts

Average contract rate Notional principle Fair value

2017 
USD:£1

2016 
USD:£1

2017 
USD ‘000

2016 
USD ‘000

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Cash flow hedges
Sell U.S. dollars
Less than 3 months 1.382 1.467 8,500 5,250 (132) (673)
3 to 6 months 1.369 1.421 6,500 5,250 (39) (548)
7 to 12 months 1.283 1.423 14,800 10,500 693 (1,079)
Over 12 months 1.289 1.319 5,900 22,200 277 (857)

35,700 43,200 799 (3,157)

Average exchange rate Foreign currency Fair value

2017 
EUR:£1

2016 
EUR:£1

2017 
EUR ‘000

2016 
EUR ‘000

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Sell Euros
Less than 3 months 1.215 1.290 1,000 1,050 (66) (85)
3 to 6 months 1.177 1.263 1,100 1,250 (46) (73)
7 to 12 months 1.138 1.245 1,800 2,500 (29) (146)
Over 12 months – 1.192 – 2,400 – (72)

3,900 7,200 (141) (376)

The fair value amounts (classified under level two of the fair value hierarchy) presented above are the difference between the market value of 
equivalent instruments at the Balance Sheet date and the contract value of the instruments. No profits or losses are included in operating profit 
in the year (2016: £nil) in respect of FVTPL contracts. The profit of £4.2 million (2016: £3.0 million loss) in respect of these cash flow hedges 
has been taken to reserves.

25  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The Directors consider that the fair value of the Group’s financial instruments do not differ significantly from their book values.

26  Foreign exchange rates
Average rate Closing rate Percentage change

2017 2016 2017 2016 Average % Closing %

Currency
US Dollar 1.2880 1.3661 1.3517 1.2312 (6) 10
Euro 1.1459 1.2352 1.1271 1.168 (7) (4)

27  Share capital

Number of Ordinary Shares of 5p each

Allotted, called 
up and fully paid

‘000

At 1 January 2016 209,022
Share options exercised  1,452 
At 31 December 2016 210,474
Share options exercised 2,168
At 31 December 2017 212,642

During the year, employees exercised share options and options over LTIPs for 1,981,490 shares (2016: 965,958) at a range of option prices 
from 42p to 122p.

During the year, 236,640 (2016: 354,582) shares were issued under the Deferred Share Bonus (DSB) Scheme and the Deferred Annual Bonus 
(DAB) Scheme at the nominal value of 5p per share. At the Balance Sheet date, 412,583 (2016: 501,324) shares are retained by the Trust to meet 
the matching requirements of the scheme.

Notes Forming Part of the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Ordinary Shares of 5p each

Allotted, called 
up and fully paid

£‘000

At 1 January 2016 10,451
Share options exercised 73
At 31 December 2016 10,524
Share options exercised  108 
At 31 December 2017 10,632

28  Reserves

Investment in own shares
This is the nominal value of the shares held in trust on behalf of employees in respect of the DSB scheme.

Other reserve
This represents Advanced Medical Solutions Limited’s share premium account arising from merger accounting.

Translation reserve
The hedging reserve represents the cumulative amount of gains and losses on hedging instruments deemed effective in cash flow hedges. 
The cumulative deferred gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in profit or loss only when the hedged transaction impacts the 
profit or loss, or is included as a basis adjustment to the non-financial hedged item, consistent with the applicable accounting policy.

Hedging reserve
Exchange differences relating to the translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations, which relate to subsidiaries only, from 
their functional currency into the parent’s functional currency, being Sterling, are recognised directly in the translation reserve. Gains and 
losses on hedging instruments that are designated as hedges of net investments in foreign operations are included in the translation 
reserve. A £2,187,000 gain has been recorded in the translation reserve during the period, which would otherwise have been recognised in 
Administration costs (2016: £8,851,000 gain), if hedge accounting had not been adopted.

29  Share-based payments
The charge for share based payments under IFRS 2 arises across the following schemes:

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

Unapproved Executive Share Option Scheme, Enterprise Management Incentive Scheme and 
Company Share Option Scheme 37 102
Long-Term Incentive Plan 908 744
Deferred Share Bonus Scheme and Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme 334 384

1,279 1,230

Unapproved Executive Share Option Scheme, Enterprise Management Incentive Scheme(EMI) and Company Share 
Option Plan (CSOP)
The fair value of the executive options is calculated based on a Black-Scholes Merton model assuming the inputs below:

Grant Date 12/04/2007 20/04/2009 15/04/2011 08/09/2011 10/05/2012 20/06/2012 06/09/2012

Share price at grant date 16.75p 33.75p 88.0p 86.25p 69.08p 67.5p 76.75p
Exercise price 16.75p 33.75p 88.0p 86.25p 69.08p 67.5p 76.75p
Expected life 3.5 yrs 3 yrs 3 yrs 3 yrs 3 yrs 3 yrs 3 yrs
Contractual life 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs
Risk free rate 5.00% 2.40% 1.92% 1.92% 0.39% 0.39% 0.17%
Expected volatility 27% 34% 18% 18% 34% 34% 34%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7%
Fair value of options 2p 6p 9p 9p 13p 12p 17p

Grant Date 26/04/2013 21/05/2013 15/04/2014 19/09/2014 02/04/2015 18/04/2016 06/04/2017

Share price at grant date 77.5p 74.0p 115.75p 121.75p 132.0p 184.6p 246.7p
Exercise price 77.5p 74.0p 115.75p 121.75p 132.0p 184.6p 246.7p
Expected life 3 yrs 3 yrs 3 yrs 3 yrs 3 yrs 3 yrs 3 yrs
Contractual life 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs
Risk free rate 0.36% 0.49% 0.80% 0.80% 0.80% 0.67% 0.18%
Expected volatility 36% 36% 36% 36% 31% 25% 23%
Expected dividend yield 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 0.4% 0.4%
Fair value of options 15p 14p 23p 24p 22p 25p 29p
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29  Share-based payments continued
Under the terms of the Company’s Share Option Schemes, approved by shareholders in 2010, the Board may offer options to purchase 
Ordinary Shares in the Company to all employees of the Company at the market price on a date to be determined prior to the date of the 
offer. Since 2005, individuals who are entitled to awards under the LTIP are no longer eligible to receive options under the Company’s Share 
Option Schemes.

Performance targets are assessed over a three-year period from the date of grant. Once options have vested they can be exercised during the 
period up to ten years from the date of grant.

The expected volatility was determined by calculating the historic volatility of the Group’s share price over the previous three years.

Options have been granted over the following number of Ordinary Shares which were outstanding at 31 December 2017:

Date of
grant

Option
price (p)

Weighted
average
price at

exercise (p)

No of options
as at 

1 January
2017

Remaining
life 

1 January
2017 Issued Lapsed Exercised

No of options
as at 

31 December
2017

Remaining
life

31 December
2017

Unapproved Executive Share Option Scheme
10.05.12 69.08  –  5,500 5.4  –  –  –  5,500 4.4
20.06.12 67.50 283.45  75,334 5.5  –  – (75,334)  – 4.5
21.05.13 74.00 266.91  60,000 6.4  –  – (60,000)  – 5.4
15.04.14 115.75  271.40  484,679 7.3  –  – (344,679)  140,000 6.3
19.09.14 121.75  313.53  127,680 7.7  –  – (73,960)  53,720 6.7
02.04.15 132.00  –  365,296 8.2  – (80,000)  –  285,296 7.2
18.04.16 184.60  –  755,572 9.3  – (88,359)  –  667,213 8.3
06.04.17 246.70  –  –  –  527,903 (18,193)  –  509,710 9.3

Enterprise Management Incentive Scheme
20.04.09 33.75  –  3,000 2.3  –  –  –  3,000 1.3
16.04.10 42.00 252.93  58,000 3.3  –  – (10,000)  48,000 2.3

Company Share Option Plan
15.04.11 88.00  –  6,000 4.3  –  –  –  6,000 3.3
08.09.11 86.25  –  1,000 4.7  –  –  –  1,000 3.7
10.05.12 69.08 278.90  23,500 5.4  –  – (22,500)  1,000 4.4
26.04.13 77.50  –  1,000 6.3  –  –  –  1,000 5.3
21.05.13 74.00 274.59  45,149 6.4  –  – (42,049)  3,100 5.4
15.04.14 115.75  278.41  135,321 7.3  –  – (82,321)  53,000 6.3
19.09.14 121.75  301.22  116,320 7.7  –  – (91,680)  24,640 6.7
02.04.15 132.00  –  99,704 8.2  –  –  –  99,704 7.2
18.04.16 184.60  –  148,053 9.3  –  –  –  148,053 8.3
06.04.17 246.70  –  –  –  234,522 (11,359)  –  223,163 9.3

 2,511,108  762,425 (197,911) (802,523)  2,273,099 

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the options outstanding at 31 December 2017 is 8.0 years (2016: 8.0 years).

	 2017 	 2016

Number of 
Options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 
price (p)

Number of 
Options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 
price (p)

Outstanding at beginning of the year  2,511,108 138.49  2,473,300 97.52
Issued  762,425 246.70  903,625 184.60
Exercised (802,523) 280.35 (839,817) 194.23
Lapsed (197,911) 172.61 (26,000) 81.94
Outstanding at end of the year  2,273,099 183.50  2,511,108 138.49
Exercisable at end of year  339,960 102.92  278,483 64.99
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Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)
The fair value of the LTIP is calculated based on a binomial tree model assuming the inputs below:

Grant date 15/04/2011 06/09/2012 19/09/2013 06/06/2014 02/04/2015 10/09/2015 18/04/2016 06/04/2017 02/11/2017

Share price at grant date 88.00p 76.8p 90.0p 117.0p 132.0p 151.5p 184.6p 246.7p 344.7p
Exercise price 0p 0p 0p 0p 0p 0p 0p 0p 0p
Expected life 3 yrs 3 yrs 3 yrs 3 yrs 3 yrs 3 yrs 3 yrs 3 yrs 3 yrs
Contractual life 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs
Risk free rate 1.92% 0.39% 0.86% 0.80% 0.80% 0.80% 0.67% 0.18% 0.18%
Expected volatility 33% 34% 36% 36% 29% 27% 25% 23% 23%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 0.4% 0.4% 0.4%
Probability of performance 
conditions 52% 49% 70% 75% 80% 80% 64% 64% 64%
Fair value of option 76.5p 36.4p 60.9p 85.9p 64.4p 75.5p 159.0p 220.0p 220.0p

The expected volatility was determined by calculating the historic volatility of the Group’s share price over the previous three years.

The entitlement to shares under the LTIP is subject to achieving the performance conditions referred to on page 50. The numbers shown are 
maximum entitlements and the actual number of shares (if any) will depend on these performance conditions being achieved.

Date of 
grant

Market
price at 
date of 

Grant (p)

Number of 
LTIPs at

1 January
2017

Remaining
life

1 January
2017 Issued Lapsed Exercised

Number of 
LTIPs at

31 December
2017

Remaining
life

31 December
2017

Long-Term Incentive Plan
15.04.11 88.00  188,628 5.3  –  – (188,628)  – 4.3

06.09.12 76.75  254,945 5.7  –  – (254,945)  – 4.7
19.09.13 90.00  201,560 6.8  –  – (201,560)  – 5.8
06.06.14 117.00  807,957 7.5  – (186,640) (533,834) 87,483 6.5
02.04.15 132.00  468,213  8.3  – (40,000)  – 428,213 7.3
10.09.15 151.50  300,329 8.7  –  –  – 300,329 7.7
18.04.16 184.60  632,016 9.3  – (21,993)  – 610,023 8.3
06.04.17 246.70  –  –  459,855 (7,386)  – 452,469 9.3
02.11.17 344.70  –  –  9,308  –  – 9,308 9.8

 2,853,648  469,163 (256,019) (1,178,967)  1,887,825 

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the LTIPs outstanding at 31 December 2017 is 8.1 years (2016: 7.9 years).
2017

Number of
Options

2016
Number of

Options

Outstanding at beginning of the period  2,853,648  2,654,456 
Issued  469,163  700,991 
Exercised (1,178,967) (126,141)
Lapsed (256,019) (375,658)
Outstanding at end of the period  1,887,825  2,853,648 
Exercisable at end of period  87,483  1,453,090 

The exercise price of these options is £1 for each issue of LTIPs.

Deferred Share Bonus Scheme (DSB)
The fair value of the DSB are calculated based on a Black-Scholes Merton model assuming the inputs below:

Grant date 12/04/2007 02/05/2008 23/04/2009 05/05/2010 05/05/2010 11/05/2011 11/05/2011 10/05/2012

Share price at grant date 18.25p 35.50p 34.00p 40.32p 40.32p 83.00p 83.00p 70.625p
Exercise price 0p 0p 0p 0p 0p 0p 0p 0p
Expected life 3.5 yrs 3.5 yrs 3 yrs 5 yrs 3 yrs 5 yrs 3 yrs 5 yrs
Contractual life 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs
Risk-free rate 5.00% 5.00% 2.40% 2.40% 2.40% 1.92% 1.92% 0.39%
Expected volatility 27% 38% 30% 34% 34% 18% 18% 34%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7%
Probability of performance conditions 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
Fair value of option 14p 30p 29p 34p 34p 72p 72p 61p
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29  Share-based payments continued
Grant date 10/05/2012 02/07/2013 02/07/2013 30/04/2014 30/04/2014 29/04/2015 29/04/2015 03/05/2016

Share price at grant date 70.625p 74.125p 74.125p 126.0p 126.0p 141.5p 141.5p 183.0p
Exercise price 0p 0p 0p 0p 0p 0p 0p 0p
Expected life 3 yrs 5 yrs 3 yrs 5 yrs 3 yrs 5 yrs 3 yrs 5 yrs
Contractual life 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs
Risk-free rate 0.39% 0.69% 0.69% 0.80% 0.80% 0.80% 0.80% 0.67%
Expected volatility 34% 36% 36% 36% 36% 31% 31% 25%
Expected dividend yield 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 0.4%
Probability of performance conditions 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
Fair value of option 62p 63p 64p 110p 110p 124p 124p 160p

Grant date 03/05/2016 02/05/2017 02/05/2017

Share price at grant date 183.0p 264.1p 264.1p
Exercise price 0p 0p 0p
Expected life 3 yrs 5 yrs 3 yrs
Contractual life 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs
Risk-free rate 0.67% 0.18% 0.18%
Expected volatility 25% 23% 23%
Expected dividend yield 0.4% 0.4% 0.4%
Probability of performance conditions 100% 100% 100%
Fair value of option 161p 233p 233p

The expected volatility was determined by calculating the historic volatility of the Group’s share price over the previous three years.

The entitlement to shares under the DSB is subject to a three year holding period. Additionally, for certain levels of share matching, additional 
performance conditions also need to be achieved. The actual number of shares that will be matched will depend on these performance 
conditions. Details of the DSB are given on page 50.

Date of 
grant

Market
price at 
date of 

grant (p)

Number of 
 DSB matching 

shares at
1 January

2017

Remaining
life

1 January
2017 Issued Lapsed Exercised

Number of
 DSB matching 

shares at
31 December

2017

Remaining
life

31 December
2017

Deferred Share Bonus Plan
12.04.07 18.25  15,779 0.3  –  – (4,428)  11,351  – 
02.05.08 35.50  13,640 1.3  –  –  –  13,640 0.3
23.04.09 34.00  35,212 2.3  –  – (10,664)  24,548 1.3
05.05.10 40.32  29,140 3.3  –  – (5,580)  23,560 2.3
11.05.11 83.00  34,021 4.4  –  – (19,828)  14,193 3.4
10.05.12 70.625  36,928 5.4  –  – (19,998)  16,930 4.4
02.07.13 74.125  188,416 6.5  –  – (60,390)  128,026 5.5
30.04.14 126.000  152,587 7.3  – (198) (59,473)  92,916 6.3
29.04.15 141.500  242,422 8.3  – (13,324)  –  229,098 7.3
03.05.16 183.000  346,151  9.3  – (17,201) (5,135)  323,815 8.3
02.05.17 264.100  –  –  279,362 (1,740)  –  277,622 9.3

 1,094,296  279,362 (32,463) (185,496)  1,155,699 

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the DSB’s outstanding at 31 December 2017 is 7.4 years (2016: 7.6 years).
2017

Number of
Options

2016
Number of

Options

Outstanding at beginning of the period 1,094,296 1,101,704
Issued 279,362 367,204
Exercised (185,496) (345,867)
Lapsed (32,463) (28,745)
Outstanding at end of the period 1,155,699 1,094,296
Exercisable at end of period 325,164 353,136

The exercise price of the matching shares is £nil.
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Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme (DAB)
The fair value of the DAB are calculated based on a Black-Scholes Merton model assuming the inputs below:

Grant date 21/05/2014 15/04/2015 18/04/2016 06/04/2017

Share price at grant date 115.4p 129.0p 184.6p 246.7p
Exercise price 0p 0p 0p 0p
Expected life 3 yrs 3 yrs 3 yrs 3 yrs
Contractual life 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs
Risk-free rate 0.80% 0.80% 0.67% 0.18%
Expected volatility 31% 31% 25% 23%
Expected dividend yield 0.7% 0.7% 0.4% 0.4%
Probability of performance conditions 100% 100% 100% 100%
Fair value of option 115p 129p 183p 250p

The expected volatility was determined by calculating the historic volatility of the Group’s share price over the previous three years.

The DAB scheme began on 21 May 2014. Participants compulsorily defer part of their bonus for the relevant financial year and vest at the end 
of a three-year period determined by the remuneration committee at the time of grant.

Date of 
grant

Market
price at 
date of 

grant (p)

Number of 
 DAB matching 

shares at
1 January

2017

Remaining
life

1 January
2017 Issued Lapsed Exercised

Number of
 DAB matching 

shares at
31 December

2017

Remaining
life

31 December
2017

Deferred Annual Bonus Plan
21.05.2014 115.40  50,813  7.3  –  – (50,293)  520 6.3
15.04.2015 129.00  78,293  8.3  –  –  –  78,293 7.3
18.04.2016 184.60  90,739  9.3  –  – (851)  89,888 8.3
06.04.2017 246.70  –  –  64,886  –  –  64,886 9.3

 219,845  64,886  – (51,144)  233,587 

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the DAB outstanding at 31 December 2017 is 8.2 years (2016: 8.8).
2017

Number of
Options

2016
Number of

Options

Outstanding at beginning of the period  219,845  134,359 
Issued  64,886  94,201 
Exercised  (51,144) (8,715)
Outstanding at end of the period  233,587  219,845 
Exercisable at end of period  520  – 

30  Commitments under operating leases
As at 31 December 2017, the Group had outstanding commitments under operating leases, which fall due as follows:

Grant date

2017
Land and
buildings

£’000

2017
Other
£’000

2016
Land and
buildings

£’000

2016
Other
£’000

Amounts payable under operating leases:
Within one year 1,034 206 908 83
In one to five years 4,245 131 3,633 143
After five years 10,147 4 2,207  7 

15,426 347 6,748 233

31  Related party transaction
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and there are no 
other related party transactions to disclose.
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Company Balance Sheet
At 31 December 2017

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Note
2017

£’000
2016

£’000

Non current assets
Investment in subsidiaries 3 52,147 52.147

Current assets
Investments
Trade and other receivables 4  2,722 3,479
Cash and cash equivalents  58,175 42,530

 60,897  46,009 
Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 5 (9,024) (3,698)
Net current assets  51,873 42,311
Net assets  104,020  94,458 
Equity shareholders’ funds
Share capital 6  10,632 10,524
Share-based payments reserve  4,676 3,469
Investment in own shares (152) (152)
Share premium  34,778 34,005
Retained earnings  54,086 46,612
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  104,020  94,458 

Share capital
£’000

Share-based 
payments

£’000

Investment in 
own shares

£’000 
Share premium

£’000

Retained 
earnings

£’000
Total

£’000

At 1 January 2016  10,451  2,253 (152)  33,196  30,119  75,867 
Share-based payments  –  1,230  –  –  –  1,230 
Share options exercised  73 (14)  –  809  –  868 
Shares purchased by EBT  –  – (449)  –  – (449)
Shares sold by EBT  –  –  449  –  –  449 
Profit for the year  –  –  –  –  18,276  18,276 
Dividends paid  –  –  –  – (1,783) (1,783)
At 31 December 2016 10,524 3,469 (152) 34,005 46,612 94,458
Share-based payments  –  1,279  –  –  –  1,279 
Share options exercised  108 (72)  –  773  –  809 
Shares purchased by EBT  –  – (484)  –  – (484)
Shares sold by EBT  –  –  484  –  –  484 
Profit for the year  –  –  –  – 9,523  9,523 
Dividends paid  –  –  –  – (2,049) (2,049)
At 31 December 2017 10,632 4,676 (152) 34,778 54,086 104,020

The Financial Statements of Advanced Medical Solutions Group plc (registration number 2867684) on pages 94 to 98 were approved by the 
Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 17 April 2018 and were signed on its behalf by:

C Meredith
Chief Executive Officer

17 April 2018
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2017

1  Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation
These Financial Statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework (‘FRS 101’). 
In preparing these Financial Statements, the Company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (‘Adopted IFRSs’), but makes amendments where necessary in order to comply with 
Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

In these Financial Statements, the Company has adopted FRS 101.

As permitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard in relation to share-
based payments, financial instruments, capital management, presentation of an income statement, presentation of a Cash Flow statement, 
presentation of comparative information in respect of certain assets, standards not yet effective, impairment of assets business combinations, 
discontinued operations and related party transactions.

Critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the course of preparing the Financial Statements, no critical judgements have been made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting 
policies, nor are there any key sources of estimation uncertainty that exist which may cause a material impact in the next 12 months.

Impairment of investments and intragroup receivables
Investment and receivable carrying values are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
of an asset or cash-generating unit is not recoverable. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, as supported by management valuation, 
less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of 
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are shown at cost less provision for impairment.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in currencies other than Pounds Sterling are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each 
Balance Sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the 
Balance Sheet date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. Gains and 
losses arising on retranslation are included in the profit or loss for the period.

Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the period comprises current and deferred tax.

Current tax
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Temporary differences in respect of the initial recognition of assets and liabilities that 
affect neither accounting nor taxable profit are not provided for. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of 
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Finance charges
Finance charges comprise interest payable on interest-bearing loans and borrowings and fair value losses on interest rate swap derivative 
financial instruments. Finance charges are recognised in the Income Statement on an effective interest method.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Company’s Balance Sheet when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire or 
are transferred. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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1  Significant accounting policies continued

Derivatives
The Company uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to interest rate risks arising from operational, financing and 
investment activities. In accordance with its treasury policy, the Company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading 
purposes. However, derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are accounted for as trading instruments. Derivative financial 
instruments are recognised initially at fair value and re-measured at each period end. The gain or loss on re-measurement to fair value is 
recognised immediately in the Income Statement. The Company has elected not to apply hedge accounting. Forward currency contracts are 
recognised at fair value in the Balance Sheet with movements in fair value recognised in the Income Statement for the period. The fair value 
of the instruments is the estimated amount that the Company would receive or pay to terminate the swap at the reporting date, taking into 
account current interest rates and the respective risk profiles of the swap counterparties. 
Derivatives are presented as assets when the fair values are positive and as liabilities when the fair values are negative. 
A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months and 
it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months.

Share-based payments
The Company has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 Share-based payments.

The Company issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair 
value at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line 
basis over the vesting period. At each Balance Sheet date, the Company revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to 
vest as a result of the effect of non-market based vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in 
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimates with a corresponding adjustment to the equity-settled employee 
benefits reserves.

2  Income Statement
As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company has elected not to present its own Income Statement for the year. 
Advanced Medical Solutions Group plc reported a profit for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 of £9,523,000 (2016: profit of 
£18,276,000).

The Auditor’s remuneration for audit and other services is disclosed in Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The average number of employees in the year was 14 (2016: 11). The Directors’ remuneration is detailed in Note 9 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

3  Investments in subsidiaries
Investments

in subsidiaries
£’000

Cost
At 1 January 2017 80,817
At 31 December 2017 80,817
Provisions for impairment
At 1 January 2017 28,670
At 31 December 2017 28,670
Net Book value
At 31 December 2017 52,147
At 31 December 2016 52,147

In the year to 31 December 2014, a loan of £59,000,000 with Advanced Medical Solutions (Germany) GmbH was converted to an investment 
in Advanced Medical Solutions (Europe) Limited.

Shares in Group undertakings and loans to Group undertakings have been written down to recognise losses in subsidiary companies.

Notes to the Company Financial Statements continued

96



Advanced Medical Solutions Group plc Annual Report 2017

Company Overview
Strategic Report
Governance
Financial Statements

The following were subsidiary undertakings at the end of the year and have all been included in the consolidated accounts.

Name
Country of
operation

Proportion of 
voting rights and 
ordinary share 
capital held Nature of business Registered address

Advanced Medical Solutions Limited England 100% Development and 
manufacture of 
medical products

Premier Park, 33 Road One, 
Winsford Industrial Estate, 
Winsford, Cheshire, CW7 3RT, 
United Kingdom

Advanced Medical Solutions (UK) Limited England 100% Holding Company Premier Park, 33 Road One, 
Winsford Industrial Estate, 
Winsford, Cheshire, CW7 3RT, 
United Kingdom

AMS Trustee Company Limited England 100% Trustee Company Premier Park, 33 Road One, 
Winsford Industrial Estate, 
Winsford, Cheshire, CW7 3RT, 
United Kingdom

Advanced Medical Solutions (Plymouth) Limited England 100% Development and 
manufacture of 
medical products

Premier Park, 33 Road One, 
Winsford Industrial Estate, 
Winsford, Cheshire, CW7 3RT, 
United Kingdom

Advanced Healthcare Systems Limited England 100%* Dormant Premier Park, 33 Road One, 
Winsford Industrial Estate, 
Winsford, Cheshire, CW7 3RT, 
United Kingdom

MedLogic Global Holdings Limited England 100%¶ Holding Company Premier Park, 33 Road One, 
Winsford Industrial Estate, 
Winsford, Cheshire, CW7 3RT, 
United Kingdom

Innovative Technologies Limited England 100%‡ Dormant Premier Park, 33 Road One, 
Winsford Industrial Estate, 
Winsford, Cheshire, CW7 3RT, 
United Kingdom

Advanced Medical Solutions B.V. Netherlands 100% Development and 
manufacture of 
medical products

Munnikenheiweg 35, 
4879 NE Etten-Leur, Netherlands

Advanced Medical Solutions (Germany) GmbH Germany 100%^ Holding Company Am Flachmoor 16, 90475 
Nuremberg, Germany

Resorba Medical GmbH Germany 100%# Development and 
manufacture of 
medical products

Am Flachmoor 16, 90475 
Nuremberg, Germany

Resorba s.r.o. Czech Republic 100%# Manufacture and 
sales office of 
medical products

Haltravska No. 9/578, 34401 
Domazlice, Czech Republic

Resorba ooo Russia 100%# Sales office of 
medical products

Fadeeva Str. 5,  
125047 Moscow, Russia

MPN Medizin Produkte Neustadt GmbH Germany 100%# Manufacturer of 
medical products

Sierksdorfer Str. 15, 23730, 
Neustadt in Holstein, Germany

Advanced Medical Solutions (USA) Inc. USA 100%¶ Marketing support of 
medical products

2711 Caterville Road, Suite 400, 
Wilmington, Newcastle, 19808, 
Delaware, USA

Advanced Medical Solutions (Europe) Limited England 100% Providing financial 
support to other 
Group entities

Premier Park, 33 Road One, 
Winsford Industrial Estate, 
Winsford, Cheshire, CW7 3RT, 
United Kingdom

*	 Held indirectly through Advanced Medical Solutions Limited.

‡	 Held indirectly through MedLogic Global Holdings Limited.

^	s.291 of German Commercial Code invoked: No Consolidated Financial Statements prepared for the German companies.

¶	Held indirectly through Advanced Medical Solutions (Plymouth) Limited.

#	Held indirectly through Advanced Medical Solutions (Germany) GmbH.

The above table reflects the situation at the year-end.
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4  Trade and other receivables
2017

£’000
2016

£’000

Due within one year

Prepayments and accrued income 137 180
Amounts due from Group undertakings 2,585 3,299

2,722 3,479

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Amounts owed by Group undertakings
At 1 January 5,639 2,340
Movement (714) 3,299
At 31 December 4,925 5,639

Provisions for impairment

At 1 January 2,340 2,340
At 31 December  2,340  2,340 

Net book value
At 31 December  2,585  3,299 

5  Trade and other payables: amounts falling due within one year
2017

£’000
2016

£’000

Trade creditors  –  55 
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 5,635  287 
Accruals and deferred income 3,248  2,980 
Derivative financial instruments 141  376 

 9,024  3,698 

6  Share capital
Details on the share capital of the Company are provided in Note 27 on page 88 to the Group’s accounts.

7  Share-based payments
The charge for share-based payments under IFRS 2 arises across the following schemes:

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

Unapproved Executive Share Option Scheme, Enterprise Management Incentive Scheme and Company Share 
Option Scheme 37 102
Long-Term Incentive Plan 908 744
Deferred Share Bonus Scheme 334 384

 1,279  1,230 

Details on the share-based payments of the Company are provided in Note 29 on pages 89 to 93 in the Notes to the Group’s accounts.

Notes to the Company Financial Statements continued
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2017 
£m

2016 
£m

2015 
£m

2014 
£m

2013 
£m

Consolidated Income Statement (Pre-exceptional)
Revenue (restated)  96.9  83.2  69.2  63.3  59.8 
Profit from operations  25.2  19.1  17.0  15.2  13.7 
Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent  20.1  15.7  14.1  12.9  11.4 
Basic earnings per share 9.5p 7.5p 6.8p 6.2p 5.5p

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Net assets employed

Non-current assets  74.2  70.1  62.7  66.8  71.3 
Current assets  94.5  74.9  53.9  37.8  25.8 
Total liabilities (16.3) (19.5) (12.9) (11.5) (11.0)
Net assets 152.4 125.5 103.7 93.1 86.1

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital and investment in own shares 10.5  10.4  10.3  10.2  10.2 
Share-based payments reserve 4.7  3.5  2.3  1.6  1.3 
Share-based payments deferred tax reserve 0.8  0.5  0.4  0.3  0.2 
Share premium account 34.8  34.0  33.2  32.8  32.4 
Other reserve 1.5  1.5  1.5  1.5  1.5 
Hedging reserve 0.6 (3.6) (0.5) (0.5)  0.7 
Translation reserve 2.8  0.6 (8.2) (4.9) (0.7)
Retained equity 96.7  78.6  64.7  52.1  40.5 
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 152.4  125.5  103.7  93.1  86.1 

Five Year Summary
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Notice of Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the twenty-fourth Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at 11.00 am on 6 June 2018 at 85 Gresham 
Street, London, EC2V 7NQ for the following purposes:

As Ordinary Business:
1	� To receive the Report of the Directors and the Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017 (together with 

the Report of the Auditor thereon).

2	 To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 December 2017.

3	 To reappoint Deloitte LLP as Auditor and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

4	 To re-elect Chris Meredith (who retires by rotation in accordance with the Articles of Association) as a Director of the Company.

5	 To re-elect Steve Bellamy (who retires by rotation in accordance with the Articles of Association) as a Director of the Company.

6	� To declare a final dividend of 0.75p per Ordinary Share, payable on 15 June 2018 to shareholders on the register at close of business 
on 25 May 2018.

As Special Business:
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass Resolution 7, which will be proposed as an Ordinary Resolution, and Resolutions 8 and 9, which will be 
proposed as Special Resolutions.

7	� To authorise the Directors generally and unconditionally for the purposes of section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 (the ‘2006 Act’) to 
exercise all the powers of the Company to allot shares in the Company and to grant rights to subscribe for or to convert any security into 
shares in the Company (each an allotment of ‘relevant securities’) up to an aggregate nominal amount of £3,544,127 provided that this 
authority is for a period expiring upon the earlier of the date of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting and 15 months after the date 
of the passing of this Resolution but the Company may before such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might require 
relevant securities to be allotted after such expiry and the Directors may allot relevant securities in pursuance of such offer or agreement 
notwithstanding that the authority conferred by this Resolution has expired. This authority is in substitution for all subsisting authorities, 
to the extent unused.

8	� Subject to the passing of Resolution 7 above, to authorise the Directors pursuant to section 570 of the 2006 Act to allot equity securities 
(within the meaning of section 560 of the 2006 Act) wholly for cash pursuant to the authority conferred by Resolution 7 above as if section 
561(1) of the 2006 Act did not apply to any such allotment, provided that this power shall be limited to the allotment of equity securities:

(a) in connection with an offer of such securities by way of rights to holders of Ordinary Shares in proportion (as nearly as may be 
practicable) to their respective holdings of such shares, but subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the Directors may deem 
necessary or expedient in relation to fractional entitlements or any legal or practical problems under the laws of any territory, or the 
requirements of any regulatory body or stock exchange;

(b) otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (a) above up to an aggregate nominal amount of £1,063,238; and

(c) which shall expire on the earlier of the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company and 15 months after the date of 
the passing of this Resolution, save that the Company may before such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might require 
equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the Directors may allot equity securities in pursuance of any such offer or agreement 
notwithstanding that the power conferred by this Resolution has expired.

9	� That the Company is hereby generally and unconditionally authorised for the purposes of Section 701 of the 2006 Act to make market 
purchases (within the meaning of Section 693(4) of the 2006 Act) of any of its Ordinary Shares of 5p each in the capital of the Company 
on such terms and in such manner as the Directors may from time to time determine provided that:

(a) the maximum number of Ordinary Shares which may be purchased is 10,632,381;

(b) the minimum price which may be paid for each Ordinary Share is 5p which amount shall be exclusive of expenses, if any;

(c) �the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which may be paid for each Ordinary Share shall not be more than 5% above the average of 
the middle market quotations for an Ordinary Share as derived from The London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the five business 
days immediately preceding the date on which the ordinary share is purchased;

(d) unless previously renewed, revoked or varied, this authority shall expire upon the earlier of the date of the Company’s next Annual 
General Meeting and 15 months after the date of the passing of this Resolution; and

(e) under this authority the Company may make a contract to purchase Ordinary Shares which would or might be executed wholly or partly 
after the expiry of this authority, and may make purchases of Ordinary Shares pursuant to it as if this authority had not expired.

By order of the Board

Mary Tavener
Company Secretary

17 April 2018

Registered office:
Premier Park, 33 Road One, Winsford Industrial Estate, 
Winsford, Cheshire, CW7 3RT.
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Notes
1	� A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting convened by the Notice set out on page 100 may appoint a proxy to attend, speak 

and, on a poll to vote in his place. A holder of more than one Ordinary Share may appoint different proxies in relation to each or any of those 
Ordinary Shares.

2	� A member may appoint more than one proxy provided each proxy is appointed to exercise rights attached to different shares. A member 
may not appoint more than one proxy to exercise rights attached to any one share. To appoint more than one proxy notice must be given 
to the Company’s Registrars not later than 48 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the meeting.

3	� A proxy does not need to be a member of the Company but must attend the meeting to represent you. Details of how to appoint the 
Chairman of the meeting or another person as your proxy using the proxy form are set out at Note 1 of the proxy form. If you wish 
your proxy to speak on your behalf at the meeting you will need to appoint your own choice of proxy (not the Chairman) and give your 
instructions directly to them.

4	� On a vote on a Resolution on a show of hands at the meeting, a proxy has one vote for and one vote against if the proxy has been 
appointed by more than one member and the proxy has been instructed by one or more of the members to vote for the resolution and by 
one or more other member to vote against it.

5	� Any corporation which is a member can appoint one or more corporate representatives who may exercise on its behalf all of its powers 
as a member provided that they do not do so in relation to the same shares.

6	� A form of proxy is enclosed for use by members. To be effective, it must be completed and arrive not later than 48 hours before the time 
fixed for the Meeting at Link Asset Services, PXS, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU. You may also deliver by hand to The 
Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU during usual business hours.

7	� The Register of Directors’ Interests in the shares of the Company will be available for inspection at the registered office of the Company 
during usual business hours on any weekday (public holidays excepted) until the date of the Meeting and also on that date and at the place 
of the Meeting from 9.00 am until the conclusion of the Meeting.

8	� The Company, pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, specifies that only those shareholders registered 
in the Register of Members of the Company as at close of business on 4 June 2018 shall be entitled to attend or vote at the aforesaid 
Annual General Meeting in respect of the number of shares registered in their names at that time. Changes in the entries in the relevant 
register of Securities after close of business on 4 June 2018 shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend or vote at 
the meeting.

Notes on Special Business

Resolution 7: Authority to Allot Shares and other relevant securities
This Resolution would give the Directors the authority to allot Ordinary Shares up to an aggregate nominal amount equal to £3,544,127 
(representing 70,882,544 Ordinary Shares of 5p each). This amount represents approximately one-third of the issued Ordinary Share capital 
of the Company as at 29 March 2018, the latest practicable date prior to publication of this Notice.

The authority sought under this resolution will expire at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the Company held in 2019 or, 
if earlier, 15 months after the passing of the resolution.

While the Directors have no present intention of issuing any of the authorised but unissued share capital, it is considered prudent and 
appropriate to maintain the flexibility that this authority provides.

Resolution 8: Disapplication of Pre-emption Rights
Your Directors also require additional authority from shareholders to allot shares or grant rights over shares or sell treasury shares where they 
propose to do so for cash and otherwise than to existing shareholders in proportion to their existing holdings. Accordingly, Resolution 8 will 
be proposed as a Special Resolution to grant such authority. Apart from rights issues, open offers or any other pre-emptive offer as mentioned 
the authority will be limited to the issue of shares and sales of treasury shares for cash up to an aggregate nominal value of £1,063,238 (being 
10% of the Company’s issued Ordinary Share capital at 29 March 2018, the latest practicable date prior to publication of this Notice). This is 
in keeping with the extent for which such authority has been sought and given at each previous Annual General Meeting of the Company 
since 2006.

Allotments made under the authorisation in paragraph (a) of Resolution 8 would be limited to allotments by way of a rights issue only 
(subject to the right of the Directors to impose necessary or appropriate limitations to deal with, for example, fractional entitlements and 
regulatory matters).

If given, this authority will expire at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the Company held in 2019 or, if earlier, 15 months after 
the passing of the Resolution.
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Resolution 9: Purchase by the Company of its own shares
In certain circumstances, it may be advantageous for the Company to purchase its own shares. Under section 701 of the 2006 Act, the 
Directors of a Company may make market purchases of that Company’s shares if authorised to do so. Your Directors believe that granting 
such approval would be in the best interests of shareholders in allowing Directors the flexibility to react promptly to circumstances requiring 
market purchases.

Accordingly, Resolution 9, which will be proposed as a Special Resolution, will give the Directors the authority to purchase issued shares of the 
Company under section 701 of the 2006 Act.

The authority contained in this Resolution will be limited to an aggregate nominal value of £531,619 (representing 5% of the issued Ordinary 
Share capital of the Company as at 29 March 2018, the latest practicable date prior to publication of this Notice; representing 10,632,381 
Ordinary Shares of 5p each). The price which may be paid for those shares is also restricted as set out in the Resolution.

This authority will expire at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the Company held in 2019 or, if earlier, 15 months after the 
passing of the Resolution.

The Board has no present intention of exercising this authority. However, this will be kept under review, and the Board will use this power only 
if and when, taking account of market conditions prevailing at the time, other investment opportunities, appropriate gearing levels and the 
overall financial position of the Group, they believe that the effect of such purchases will be in the best interests of shareholders generally and 
that they will result in an increase in earnings per share.

Shares purchased under this authority may be held as treasury shares. Shares held in treasury do not carry voting rights and no dividends will 
be paid on any such shares. Shares held in treasury in this way can be sold for cash or cancelled. This would allow the Company to manage its 
capital base more effectively and to replenish its distributable reserves.

If and when the Board resolves to exercise its authority to make market purchases, it will at that time decide whether shares purchased are to 
be cancelled or held in treasury.

As at 29 March 2018, the latest practicable date prior to publication of this Notice, there were share options outstanding over Ordinary Shares, 
representing 2.6% of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital. The Company has no warrants in issue in relation to its shares. If the buyback 
authority was to be exercised in full, these options would represent 2.7% of the Company’s ordinary issued share capital. 

Notice of Meeting continued
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